UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 40-F
Registration statement pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
_

Annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016

Commission File Number 001-09038

Central Fund of Canada Limited

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Alberta, Canada
(Province or Other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization)

1040
(Primary Standard Industrial
Classification Code)

Not Applicable
(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

Hallmark Estates, #805
1323-15th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T3C 0X8
Canada
(403) 228-5861
(Address and telephone number of registrant’s principal executive offices)
DL Services, Inc.
Columbia Center
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6100
Seattle, Washington 98104-7043
(206) 903-8800
(Name, address (including zip code) and telephone number (including
area code) of agent for service in the United States)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of Each Class:
Class A non-voting shares, no par value

Name of Each Exchange On Which Registered:
NYSE MKT LLC
Toronto Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act: None
For annual reports, indicate by check mark the information filed with this form:
_ Annual Information Form

_ Audited Annual Financial Statements

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the registrant’s classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual
report:
Class
Class A non-voting shares, no par value
Common shares, no par value

Outstanding at
October 31, 2016
253,803,391
40,000

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
_ Yes No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to
be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes No

EXPLANATORY NOTE
Central Fund of Canada Limited (the “Company” or the “Registrant”) is a Canadian issuer eligible to file its annual report pursuant to Section 13 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), on Form 40-F pursuant to the multijurisdictional disclosure system of the Exchange Act.
The Company is a “foreign private issuer” as defined in Rule 3b-4 under the Exchange Act. Equity securities of the Company are accordingly exempt from
Sections 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(f) and 16 of the Exchange Act pursuant to Rule 3a12-3.
NOTE TO UNITED STATES READERS:
DIFFERENCES IN UNITED STATES AND CANADIAN REPORTING PRACTICES
The Company is permitted, under a multijurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the United States, to prepare the exhibits to this annual report on
Form 40-F (this “Annual Report”) in accordance with Canadian disclosure requirements, which are different from those of the United States. The Company
prepares its financial statements, which are filed as Exhibits to this Annual Report, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”), and they may be subject to Canadian auditing and auditor independence standards. They may not be
comparable to financial statements of United States companies.
CURRENCY
Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts in this Annual Report are in United States dollars. As of December 2, 2016, the noon buying rate in New
York City for cable transfers in United States dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York was U.S.$1.00 =
Cdn.$1.3298.
ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
The Company’s Annual Information Form for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016 is filed as Exhibit 99.1 and is hereby incorporated by reference in
this Annual Report.
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Audited Annual Financial Statements
The Company’s audited Statements of Financial Position as at October 31, 2016 and 2015, and the Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Statements of Changes in Equity, and Statements of Cash Flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended October 31, 2016, along with the notes to
such financial statements and the reports of the independent auditors with respect thereto, and the information included under the heading “Management’s
Responsibility for Financial Reporting and Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” each of which are filed as part of Exhibit 99.2, are
hereby incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) prepared by the Company is filed as part of Exhibit 99.2 and is hereby incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report.
TAX MATTERS
Shareholders should be aware that the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of shares of non-voting, fully participating Class A common stock of the
Company (the “Class A Shares”) may have tax consequences under the laws of both Canada and the United States. Shareholders are solely responsible for
determining the tax consequences applicable to their particular circumstances and should consult their own tax advisors concerning an investment in the
Company’s Class A Shares.
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CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
The following is a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences to a United States Person (as defined below) arising from and
relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of the Company’s Class A Shares.
This summary is only a general discussion and is not intended to be, and should not be construed to be, legal or United States federal income tax advice
to any United States Person. In addition, this summary does not discuss all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be relevant to a United
States Person in light of such United States Person’s particular circumstances. Except as specifically set forth below, this summary does not discuss applicable
income tax reporting requirements. No ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has been requested, or will be obtained, regarding the United States
federal income tax consequences to United States Persons on the ownership or disposition of Class A Shares. This summary is not binding on the IRS, and the
IRS is not precluded from taking a position that is different from, and contrary to, the positions taken in this summary. In addition, because the authorities on
which this summary is based are subject to various interpretations, the IRS and the United States courts could disagree with one or more of the positions taken
in this summary. Moreover, this summary does not include any discussion of United States state or local, United States federal estate or gift, United States
federal alternative minimum tax or foreign tax consequences.
Scope of this Summary
Authorities
This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), Treasury Regulations (whether final, temporary, or proposed),
published rulings of the IRS, published administrative positions of the IRS, the Convention Between Canada and the United States of America with Respect to
Taxes on Income and on Capital, signed September 26, 1980, as amended (the “Canada-U.S. Tax Convention”), and U.S. court decisions that are applicable
and, in each case, as in effect and available, as of the date of this Form 40-F. Any of the authorities on which this summary is based could be changed in a
material and adverse manner at any time, and any such change could be applied on a retroactive basis. This summary does not discuss the potential effects,
whether adverse or beneficial, of any proposed legislation that, if enacted, could be applied on a retroactive basis.
United States Persons
For purposes of this summary, a “United States Person” means (i) an individual citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, or other
entity treated as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state in the
United States or the District of Columbia; (iii) an estate, the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or (iv)
a trust if either (a) such trust has validly elected to be treated as a United States person for United States federal income tax purposes or (b) a United States court
is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more United States Persons have the authority to control all substantial
decisions of such trust.
U.S. Person Subject to Special U.S. Federal Income Tax Rules Not Addressed
This summary does not discuss the United States federal income tax consequences to United States Persons that are subject to special treatment under
the Code (for example, United States Persons (i) that are tax-exempt organizations, qualified retirement plans, individual retirement accounts, or other taxdeferred accounts; (ii) that are financial institutions, insurance companies, real estate investment trusts, or regulated investment companies; (iii) that are dealers
in securities or currencies or that are traders in securities that elect to apply a mark-to-market accounting method; (iv) that have a “functional currency” other
than the United States dollar; (v) that own Class A Shares as part of a straddle, hedging transaction, conversion transaction, constructive sale, or other
arrangement involving more than one position; (vi) that hold Class A Shares other than as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code; or
(vii) that own (directly, indirectly, or constructively) 10% or more of the total combined voting power of the outstanding shares of the Company). This summary
also does not address the consequences of owning Class A Shares by United States Persons who are United States expatriates or former long-term residents of
the United States subject to Section 877 of the Code. United States Persons and others that are subject to special provisions under the Code, including United
States Persons described immediately above, should consult a tax advisor regarding the United States federal income tax consequences arising from and relating
to the ownership and disposition of Class A Shares.
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The United States federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of the Class A Shares are very complex and, in certain
cases, uncertain or potentially unfavorable to United States Persons. Accordingly, a United States Person considering acquiring Class A Shares is
strongly urged to consult its own tax advisor with respect to the United States federal income, United States state or local, United States federal estate
or gift, alternative minimum tax or foreign tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of Class A Shares in light of such United States Person’s
particular facts and circumstances.
Sale or Disposition of Class A Shares
Subject to the passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) rules discussed below, a United States Person generally will recognize gain or loss on the
sale or other taxable disposition of Class A Shares in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the amount of cash plus the fair market value of any
property received and (b) such United States Person’s tax basis in the Class A Shares sold or otherwise disposed of. Amounts received by a United States Person
upon the redemption by the Company of Class A Shares will be treated either as a distribution by the Company (See “Distributions on Class A Shares” below)
or as a payment in exchange for the Class A Shares, depending on whether and to what extent the redemption reduces the United States Person’s percentage
ownership interest in the Company. Generally, a redemption will be treated as an exchange of Class A Shares if (taking into account certain constructive
ownership rules under Section 318 of the Code) the redemption (a) completely terminates the United States Person’s interest in the Company under Section 302
(b)(3) of the Code, (b) is “substantially disproportionate” with respect to the United States Person under Section 302(b)(2) of the Code, or (c) is “not essentially
equivalent to a dividend” under Section 302(b)(1) of the Code. Gain or loss recognized on a sale or other taxable disposition generally will be long-term capital
gain or loss if, at the time of the sale or other disposition, the Class A Shares have been held for more than one year. Preferential tax rates apply to long-term
capital gain of a United States Person that is an individual, estate, or trust. There are currently no preferential tax rates for long-term capital gain of a United
States Person that is a corporation. Deductions for capital losses are subject to significant limitations under the Code. Because the Company has been, and
expects to continue to be, a PFIC, the special rules discussed below generally will apply to any gain recognized by a United States Person on sales or other
taxable dispositions of Class A Shares. See “Passive Foreign Investment Company Treatment”, below.
Distributions on Class A Shares
Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, a distribution paid on a Class A Share, including a constructive distribution, generally will be included in
gross income of a United States Person as ordinary income (without reduction for any amounts withheld in respect of Canadian federal income tax) to the extent
of the Company’s current or accumulated “earnings and profits” (as computed under United States federal income tax rules). To the extent that a distribution
paid on the Class A Shares exceeds the “earnings and profits” of the Company, such distribution generally will be treated as a non-taxable return of capital to
the extent of the tax basis of the Class A Share and then as gain from the sale or exchange of the Class A Share. Dividends paid on the Class A Shares will not
be eligible for the United States federal income tax rate generally applicable to dividends paid by a “qualified foreign corporation” to non-corporate United
States Persons if the Company is a PFIC for the Company’s taxable year during which it pays a dividend on the Class A Shares, or for the Company’s
immediately preceding taxable year. In addition, dividends paid on the Class A Shares generally will not be eligible for the deduction for dividends received by
corporations. Notwithstanding the discussion above, because the Company has been, and expects to continue to be, a PFIC, the special rules discussed below
generally will apply to any distribution paid on the Class A Shares. See “Passive Foreign Investment Company Treatment” below.
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Foreign Currency
For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the amount received by a United States Person as payment with respect to a distribution on or a disposition of
Class A Shares if paid in Canadian dollars, is the U.S. dollar value at the date of the payment, regardless of whether the payment is promptly converted into U.S.
dollars. If the Canadian dollars are not converted into U.S. dollars on the date of the payment, the United States Person may recognize additional ordinary
income or loss as a result of currency fluctuations between the date on which the payment is made and the date the payment is converted into U.S. dollars.
Different rules apply to United States Persons who use the accrual method of tax accounting.
Passive Foreign Investment Company Treatment
The Company generally will be a PFIC for United States federal income tax purposes if, for a taxable year, either (i) 75% or more of the gross income
of the Company for such taxable year is passive income or (ii) on average, 50% or more of the assets held by the Company either produce passive income or are
held for the production of passive income, based on the fair market value of such assets. “Passive income” includes, for example, dividends, interest, certain
rents and royalties, certain gains from the sale of stock and securities, and certain gains from commodities transactions. The Company has been, and expects to
continue to be, a PFIC for United States federal income tax purposes. The United States federal income tax rules applicable to PFICs are very complex and, in
certain cases, uncertain. Each United States Person is strongly urged to consult its own tax advisor with respect to the PFIC rules.
The United States federal income tax consequences to a United States Person that owns (directly or, in certain cases, indirectly) Class A Shares will
depend on whether or not a qualified electing fund (a “QEF”) election or a mark-to-market election (a “Mark-to-Market Election”), each as described below, is
made by such United States Person with respect to the Company.
In any year in which the Company is classified as a PFIC, a United States Person will be required to file an annual report with the IRS containing such
information as Treasury regulations and/or other IRS guidance may require. In addition to penalties, a failure to satisfy such reporting requirements may result
in an extension of the time period during which the IRS can assess a tax. United States Persons should consult their own tax advisors regarding the requirements
of filing such information returns under these rules, including the requirement to file an IRS Form 8621.
Non-Electing Shareholders
If a QEF election is not made by a United States Person, or is not in effect with respect to the entire period that such United States Person has held the
Class A Shares, then, unless such United States Person has made the Mark-to-Market Election, any gain recognized on the sale or other taxable disposition of
Class A Shares will be treated as ordinary income realized pro rata over such holding period for such Class A Shares. A United States Person will be required to
include as ordinary income in the year of disposition the portion of the gain attributed to such year. In addition, such United States Person’s United States
federal income tax for the year of disposition will be increased by the sum of (i) the tax computed by using the highest statutory rate applicable to such United
States Person for each year (without regard to other income or expenses of such United States Person) on the portion of the gain attributed to years prior to the
year of disposition plus (ii) interest on the tax determined under clause (i), at the rate applicable to underpayments of tax, which interest will not be deductible
by non-corporate United States Persons, from the due date of the United States federal income tax return (without regard to extensions) for each year described
in clause (i) to the due date of the United States federal income tax return (without regard to extensions) for the year of disposition. Under certain proposed
Treasury regulations, a “disposition” for this purpose may include, under certain circumstances, transfers at death, gifts, pledges, transfers pursuant to taxdeferred reorganizations and other transactions with respect to which gain ordinarily would not be recognized. Under certain circumstances, the adjustment
generally made to the tax basis of property held by a decedent may not apply to the tax basis of Class A Shares if a QEF election was not in effect for the
deceased United States Person’s entire holding period. Any loss recognized by a United States Person on the disposition of Class A Shares generally will be
capital loss. In addition, rules similar to those applicable to dispositions generally will apply to “excess distributions” paid on a Class A Share (i.e., distributions
that exceed 125% of the average amount of distributions received on the Class A Share during the preceding three years or, if shorter, during the United States
Person’s holding period for the Class A Share).
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QEF Election
A United States Person that owns Class A Shares may elect (assuming that the Company provides such United States Person with certain information)
to have the Company treated, with respect to that United States Person, as a QEF. A QEF election must be made by a United States Person before the due date
(including extensions) for such United States Person’s United States federal income tax return for the taxable year for which the QEF election is made, and,
once made, will be effective for all subsequent taxable years of such United States Person, unless revoked with the consent of the IRS. (A United States Person
that makes a QEF election with respect to the Company is referred to in this summary as an “Electing Shareholder”). The Company now makes, and intends
to continue to make, available to Electing Shareholders the PFIC Annual Information Statement currently required by the IRS with respect to a QEF
election, which will include information as to the allocation of the Company’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” (each as computed under
United States federal income tax rules) among the Class A Shares and as to distributions on such Class A Shares. Such PFIC Annual Information
Statement may be used by Electing Shareholders for purposes of complying with the reporting requirements applicable to the QEF election.
Provided that an Electing Shareholder’s QEF election is in effect with respect to the entire holding period for the Class A Shares, any gain or loss
recognized by such Electing Shareholder on the sale or other taxable disposition of such Class A Shares generally would be a capital gain or loss. Such capital
gain or loss generally would be long-term if such Electing Shareholder had held the Class A Shares for more than one year at the time of the sale or other
taxable disposition. For non-corporate United States Persons, long-term capital gain is generally subject to a current maximum United States federal income tax
rate of 20%. Long-term capital gain from the disposition of collectibles such as gold or silver, however, is subject to a maximum United States federal income
tax rate of 28%. The IRS has authority to issue Treasury regulations applying the 28% tax rate to gain from the sale of an interest in a PFIC with respect to
which a QEF election is in effect, to the extent that such gain is attributable to unrealized appreciation of collectibles held by such PFIC. As no such Treasury
regulations have been issued, the 20% maximum tax rate currently should apply to long-term capital gains arising from the sale or other taxable disposition of
Class A Shares by an Electing Shareholder. There can be no assurance, however, as to whether, when or with what effective date any such Treasury regulations
may be issued, or whether any such Treasury regulations would subject long-term capital gains recognized by an Electing Shareholder from the disposition of
Class A Shares to the 28% maximum tax rate.
A United States Person holding Class A Shares with respect to which a QEF election is not in effect for the entire holding period may avoid the adverse
ordinary income and interest charge rules described above upon any subsequent disposition of such Class A Shares if such United States Person elects to
recognize any gain in such Class A Shares as of the first day in the first year that the QEF election applies to such Class A Shares (a “deemed sale” election).
Any gain recognized by a United States Person under such a deemed sale election will, however, be subject to the ordinary income and interest charge rules
described above.
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An Electing Shareholder will be required to include currently in gross income such Electing Shareholder’s pro rata share of the annual “ordinary
earnings” and “net capital gains” (but may not include any net loss) of the Company. Such inclusion will be required whether or not such Electing Shareholder
owns Class A Shares for an entire taxable year or at the end of the Company’s taxable year. For purposes of determining the amounts includable in income by
Electing Shareholders under the QEF rules, the tax bases of the Company’s assets, and the “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” of the Company, will be
computed under United States federal income tax rules. Accordingly, it is anticipated that such tax bases, and such “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains”,
will differ from the figures set forth in the Company’s financial statements. The amount currently included in income by an Electing Shareholder will be treated
as ordinary income to the extent of the Electing Shareholder’s pro rata share of the Company’s “ordinary earnings” and generally will be treated as long-term
capital gain to the extent of such Electing Shareholder’s pro rata share of the Company’s “net capital gains.” The Electing Shareholder will be required to
include in income such pro rata share of the “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” of the Company, without regard to the amount of cash distributions, if
any, received from the Company. Electing Shareholders will be required to pay United States federal income tax currently on such pro rata share of “ordinary
earnings” and “net capital gains” of the Company, unless, as described below, an election is made to defer such payment of tax. Under these QEF rules, in the
event that the Company disposes of a portion of its gold or silver holdings, including dispositions in the course of varying its relative investment between gold
and silver, Electing Shareholders may be required to report substantial amounts of income for United States federal income tax purposes (in the absence of any
cash distributions received from the Company). Historically, the Company has declared and paid a cash distribution of U.S. $0.01 per share (prior to 1996, Cdn.
$0.01 per share) on its outstanding Class A Shares. In addition, it is the intention of the Company to distribute to holders of record of Class A Shares and
common shares as of the last day of each taxable year (currently October 31) an aggregate amount of cash distributions (including the stated distributions on the
Class A Shares) such that the amount of cash distributions payable to an Electing Shareholder that holds Class A Shares for the entire taxable year of the
Company will be at least equal to the product of (i) the Company’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” for such taxable year allocable to such Electing
Shareholder and (ii) the highest marginal rate of United States federal income tax on ordinary income or long-term capital gain, as appropriate, applicable to
individuals. Any such cash distributions (other than certain capital gains dividends) to non-residents of Canada will be subject to Canadian withholding tax.
Because such cash distributions may be subject to Canadian withholding tax and because the amount of such cash distributions will be determined without
reference to possible United States state or local income tax liabilities or to the rate of United States federal income tax applicable to corporate United States
Persons, such cash distributions may not provide an Electing Shareholder with sufficient cash to pay the United States federal income tax liability arising from
the inclusion in income of the Electing Shareholder’s pro rata share of the Company’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” under the QEF rules.
An Electing Shareholder may elect to defer, until the occurrence of certain events, payment of the United States federal income tax liability arising
from the inclusion in income of the Electing Shareholder’s pro rata share of the Company’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” under the QEF rules, but
will be required to pay interest on the deferred tax computed by using the statutory rate of interest applicable to an extension of time for payment of tax.
If an Electing Shareholder demonstrates to the satisfaction of the IRS that amounts actually distributed on the Class A Shares have been previously
included in income under the QEF rules by such Electing Shareholder (or a previous United States Person), such distributions generally will not be taxable. An
Electing Shareholder’s tax basis in the Class A Shares generally will be increased by any amounts currently included in income under the QEF rules and
generally will be decreased by any subsequent distributions from the Company that are treated as non-taxable distributions pursuant to the preceding sentence.
Mark-to-Market Election
A United States Person generally may make a Mark-to-Market Election with respect to shares of “marketable stock” of a PFIC. Under the Code and
Treasury regulations, the term “marketable stock” includes stock of a PFIC that is “regularly traded” on a “qualified exchange or other market”. Generally, a
“qualified exchange or other market” means (i) a national securities exchange which is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission or the national
market system established pursuant to Section 11A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or (ii) a foreign securities exchange that is regulated or supervised by
a governmental authority of the country in which the market is located and has the following characteristics: (a) the exchange has trading volume, listing,
financial disclosure, and other requirements designed to prevent fraudulent and manipulative acts and practices, to remove impediments to and perfect the
mechanism of a free and open market, and to protect investors, and the laws of the country in which the exchange is located and the rules of the exchange ensure
that such requirements are actually enforced; and (b) the rules of the exchange ensure active trading of listed stocks. A class of stock is “regularly traded” on a
qualified exchange or other market for any calendar year during which such class of stock is traded (other than in de minimis quantities) on at least 15 days
during each calendar quarter. The Company believes that the Class A Shares are, and expects that the Class A Shares will continue to be, “marketable stock” for
purposes of the Mark-to-Market Election rules.
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A United States Person that makes a Mark-to-Market Election would generally be required to report gain or loss annually to the extent of the
difference, if any, between (i) the fair market value of the Class A Shares at the end of each taxable year and (ii) the adjusted tax basis of the Class A Shares at
the end of each taxable year. Any gain under this computation, and any gain recognized on an actual sale or other taxable disposition of the Class A Shares,
generally would be treated as ordinary income. Any loss under this computation, and any loss recognized on an actual sale or other taxable disposition of the
Class A Shares, generally would be treated as an ordinary loss to the extent of the cumulative net mark-to-market gain, and thereafter would be considered
capital loss. The United States Person’s adjusted tax basis in the Class A Shares generally would be adjusted for any gain or loss taken into account under the
Mark-to-Market Election.
Unless either (i) the Mark-to-Market Election is made as of the beginning of the United States Person’s holding period for the Class A Shares or (ii) a
QEF election has been in effect for such United States Person’s entire holding period for the Class A Shares, any mark-to-market gain for the election year
generally will be subject to the ordinary income and interest charge rules described above.
United States Foreign Tax Credit
Subject to complex limitations set forth in the Code, United States Persons may be entitled to claim a credit against their United States federal income
tax liability for Canadian federal income tax withheld from distributions paid on the Class A Shares. For purposes of applying the limitations set forth in the
Code, dividends paid on the Class A Shares generally will constitute “foreign source” income and generally will be categorized as “passive category income”.
Gain from the sale or other disposition of the Class A Shares generally will constitute “United States source” income for foreign tax credit purposes unless the
gain is subject to tax in Canada and is resourced as “foreign source” under the Treaty and the United States Person elects to treat such gains as “foreign source.”
United States Persons that do not elect to claim foreign tax credits for a taxable year may be able to deduct any such Canadian federal income tax withheld.
Each United States Person is strongly urged to consult his, her or its own tax advisor with respect to the foreign tax credit rules.
Additional Tax on Passive Income
Certain United States Persons that are individuals, estates or trusts (other than trusts that are exempt from tax) will be subject to a 3.8% tax on all or a
portion of their “net investment income,” which includes dividends on the Class A Shares and net gains from the disposition of the Class A Shares. Further,
excess distributions treated as dividends, gains treated as excess distributions under the PFIC rules discussed above, and mark-to-market inclusions and
deductions are all included in the calculation of net investment income.
Treasury Regulations provide, subject to the election described in the following paragraph, that solely for purposes of this additional tax, that
distributions of previously taxed income will be treated as dividends and included in net investment income subject to the additional 3.8% tax. Additionally, to
determine the amount of any capital gain from the sale or other taxable disposition of Class A Shares that will be subject to the additional tax on net investment
income, a United States Person who has made a QEF Election will be required to recalculate its basis in the Class A Shares excluding QEF basis adjustments.
Alternatively, a United States Person may make an election which will be effective with respect to all interests in a PFIC for which a QEF Election has
been made and which is held in that year or acquired in future years. Under this election, a United States Person pays the additional 3.8% tax on QEF income
inclusions and on gains calculated after giving effect to related tax basis adjustments. United States Persons that are individuals, estates or trusts should consult
their own tax advisors regarding the applicability of this tax to any of their income or gains in respect of the Class A Shares.
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
Under U.S. federal income tax law and Treasury regulations, certain categories of United States Persons must file information returns with respect to
their investment in, or involvement in, a foreign corporation. For example, U.S. return disclosure obligations (and related penalties) are imposed on individuals
who are United States Persons that hold certain specified foreign financial assets meeting certain minimum thresholds. The definition of specified foreign
financial assets includes not only financial accounts maintained in foreign financial institutions, but also, unless held in accounts maintained by a financial
institution, any stock or security issued by a non-U.S. person, any financial instrument or contract held for investment that has an issuer or counterparty other
than a U.S. person and any interest in a foreign entity. United States Persons may be subject to these reporting requirements unless their Class A Shares are held
in an account at certain financial institutions. Penalties for failure to file certain of these information returns are substantial. Pursuant to the Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act, the Company may be required to enter into an agreement with the IRS to disclose certain information regarding certain United States Persons
to the IRS. United States Persons should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the requirements for filing information returns, including requirements to
file an IRS Form 8938.
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Payments to a United States Person made within the United States, or by a United States payor or United States middleman, of dividends on, or
proceeds arising from the sale or other taxable disposition of, Class A Shares generally will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding tax, at
the current rate of 28%, if a United States Person fails to furnish its correct United States taxpayer identification number, and to make certain certifications, or
otherwise fails to establish an exemption. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a United States Person generally may be
refunded (or credited against such United States Person’s United States federal income tax liability, if any) provided the required information is furnished to the
IRS.
The discussion of reporting requirements set forth above is not intended to constitute an exhaustive description of all reporting requirements that may
apply to a U.S. Person. A failure to satisfy certain reporting requirements may result in an extension of the time period during which the IRS can assess a tax,
and under certain circumstances, such an extension may apply to assessments of amounts unrelated to any unsatisfied reporting requirement. Each U.S. Person
should consult its own tax advisors regarding the information reporting and backup withholding rules.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
The Company carried out an evaluation as at the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, under the supervision and with the participation
of the Company’s senior executive officers, including the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on that
evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of the end of the fiscal year covered by
this Annual Report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequately designed and effective to ensure that i) information required to be
disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the applicable rules and forms and ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act
is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s senior executive officers, including its President and Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for accurate and timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Company’s senior executive officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of the financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with IFRS.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies and/or procedures may deteriorate.
The senior executive officers conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness, design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of October 31, 2016 based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design
effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on this evaluation, the senior executive
officers have concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of October 31, 2016 and no material weaknesses were
discovered.
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ATTESTATION REPORT OF THE REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Our independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, which has audited the Registrant’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31,
2016, has also issued an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting under the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). This report is located on page 18 of the Annual Report to Shareholders, attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2, and incorporated by reference
herein.
CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
During the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, no change occurred in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The senior executive officers of the Company, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer, do not
expect that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because
of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns
can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more
people, or by officers’ override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, control may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and is required to describe its practices and policies with regard to corporate governance with
specific reference to the corporate governance guidelines of the Canadian Securities Administrators on an annual basis by way of a corporate governance
statement contained in the Company’s annual information form or information circular. The Company is also listed on the NYSE MKT LLC (“NYSE MKT”)
and additionally complies as necessary with the rules and guidelines of NYSE MKT as well as the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”). The Company reviews its governance practices on an ongoing basis to ensure it is in compliance with the applicable laws, rules and guidelines
both in Canada and in the United States.
The Company’s board of directors is responsible for the Company’s corporate governance policies and has separately designated a standing Corporate
Governance Committee. The Company’s board of directors has determined that the members of the Corporate Governance Committee are independent, based
on the criteria for independence set forth in the NYSE MKT Company Guide.
Corporate governance relates to the activities of the Company’s board of directors, the members of which are elected by and are accountable to the
shareholders, and takes into account the role of the senior officers who are appointed by the board and who are charged with the day to day administration of the
Company. The Company’s board of directors is committed to sound corporate governance practices that are both in the interest of its shareholders and
contribute to effective and efficient decision making.
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NOTICES PURSUANT TO REGULATION BTR
There were no notices required by Rule 104 of Regulation BTR that the Company sent during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016 to directors and
executive officers concerning any equity security subject to a blackout period under Rule 101 of Regulation BTR.
AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company’s board of directors has a separately designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the
Exchange Act. The members of the Company’s Audit Committee are identified on page 14 of the Annual Information Form, filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual
Report, and incorporated by reference herein. In the opinion of the Company’s board of directors, all members of the Audit Committee are independent as
determined under Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act, the rules of NYSE MKT and the policies of the Canadian Securities Administrators and are financially
literate.
Audit Committee Financial Expert
Bruce D. Heagle, Chairman of the Audit Committee, is the financial expert, in that he has an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles
and financial statements; is able to assess the general application of such accounting principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and
reserves; has experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that
are generally comparable in breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements (or actively
supervising one or more persons engaged in such activities); has an understanding of internal controls and procedures over financial reporting and an
understanding of audit committee functions.
The members of the Audit Committee do not have fixed terms and are appointed and replaced annually by resolution of the Company’s board of
directors.
The Audit Committee meets with the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the
Company’s independent auditors to review and inquire into matters affecting financial reporting, the system of internal accounting and financial controls, as
well as accounting policies, audit procedures and audit plans. The Audit Committee also recommends to the Company’s board of directors the auditors to be
appointed and their compensation. In addition, the Audit Committee reviews and recommends to the Company’s board of directors for approval the Company’s
financial statements and reports, the MD&A and the Annual Information Form, and undertakes other activities required by regulatory authorities.
Audit Committee Charter
The Company’s Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company’s website at www.centralfund.com, in the Annual Information Form filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report or in print to any shareholder who provides the Company with a written request made to Catherine A. Spackman, Treasurer
and Chief Financial Officer, at Hallmark Estates, #805, 1323-15th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T3C 0X8, Canada.
CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS
The Company’s board of directors has adopted a written Code of Conduct and Ethics by which the principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer of the Company abide. In addition, the Company’s board of directors, through its meetings with officers and other
informal discussions with officers, encourages a culture of ethical business conduct and believes the Company’s high caliber officers promote a culture of
ethical business conduct throughout the Company’s operations and is expected to monitor the activities of the Company’s officers, consultants and agents in that
regard. The Company’s board of directors encourages any concerns regarding ethical conduct in respect of the Company’s operations to be raised, on an
anonymous basis, with the President and CEO, the Chairman, or the Secretary, as appropriate.
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It is a requirement of applicable corporate law that directors or directors and officers who have an interest in a transaction or agreement with the
Company promptly disclose that interest at any meeting of the Company’s board of directors at which the transaction or agreement will be discussed and abstain
from discussions and voting in respect to same if the interest is material.
A copy of the Company’s Code of Conduct and Ethics is available on its website at www.centralfund.com and without charge, upon written request
made to Catherine A. Spackman, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer, at Hallmark Estates, #805, 1323-15th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T3C 0X8,
Canada.
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Ernst & Young LLP acted as the Company’s independent auditor for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016. See page 20 of the Company’s Annual
Information Form, which is filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report, for the total amount in United States dollars billed to the Company by Ernst & Young
LLP for services performed in the last two fiscal years by category of service.
PRE-APPROVAL OF AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES PROVIDED BY
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
See “Audit Committee Matters” beginning on page 14 of the Company’s Annual Information Form filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report and
incorporated by reference herein.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The following table lists, as of October 31, 2016, information with respect to the Company’s known contractual obligations.
Payments due by period
Contractual Obligations
Long-Term Debt Obligations
Capital (Finance) Lease Obligations
Operating Lease Obligations
Purchase Obligations
Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on the
Registrant’s Balance Sheet under IFRS
Total

Less than
1 year

Total
$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

1-3 years
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

3-5 years
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

More than
5 years
—
—
—
—
—
—

NYSE MKT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s Class A Shares are listed on the NYSE MKT. Section 110 of the NYSE MKT Company Guide permits the NYSE MKT to consider
the laws, customs and practices of foreign issuers in relaxing certain NYSE MKT listing criteria, and to grant exemptions from NYSE MKT listing criteria
based on these considerations. An issuer seeking relief under these provisions is required to provide written certification from independent local counsel that the
non-complying practice is not prohibited by home country law. A description of the significant ways in which the Company’s governance practices differ from
those followed by domestic companies pursuant to NYSE MKT standards is as follows:
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Shareholder Meeting Quorum Requirement. The NYSE MKT minimum quorum requirement for a shareholder meeting is one-third of the outstanding
shares of common stock. In addition, a company listed on NYSE MKT is required to state its quorum requirement in its bylaws. The Company’s quorum
requirement is set forth in its bylaws. A quorum for a meeting of shareholders of the Company is two persons who are, or who represent by proxy, shareholders
who, in the aggregate, hold at least 10% of the common shares entitled to be voted at the meeting.
Proxy Delivery Requirement. NYSE MKT requires the solicitation of proxies and delivery of proxy statements for all shareholder meetings, and
requires that these proxies shall be solicited pursuant to a proxy statement that conforms to Commission proxy rules. The Company is a “foreign private issuer”
as defined in Rule 3b-4 under the Exchange Act, and the equity securities of the Company are accordingly exempt from the proxy rules set forth in Sections 14
(a), 14(b), 14(c) and 14(f) of the Exchange Act. The Company solicits proxies in accordance with applicable rules and regulations in Canada.
The foregoing are consistent with the laws, customs and practices in Canada.
In addition, we may from time-to-time seek relief from NYSE MKT corporate governance requirements on specific transactions under Section 110 of
the NYSE MKT Company Guide by providing written certification from independent local counsel that the non- complying practice is not prohibited by our
home country law, in which case, we shall make the disclosure of such transactions available on our website at www.centralfund.com. Information contained
on, or accessible through, our website is not part of this Annual Report.
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
UNDERTAKING
The Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the Commission staff, and to
furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the Commission staff, information relating to the securities in relation to which the obligation to file an annual
report on Form 40-F arises or transactions in said securities.
CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS
The Registrant has filed an Appointment of Agent for Service of Process and Undertaking on Form F-X in connection with the class of securities in
relation to which the obligation to file this Annual Report arises.
Any change to the name or address of the Registrant’s agent for service of process shall be communicated promptly to the Commission by an
amendment to the Form F-X referencing the file number of the Registrant.
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 40-F and has duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
CENTRAL FUND OF CANADA LIMITED
/s/ J.C. Stefan Spicer
J.C. Stefan Spicer
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: December 8, 2016
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EXHIBIT INDEX
The following documents are being filed with the Commission as Exhibits to this Annual Report:
Exhibit

Description

99.1

Annual Information Form

99.2

Annual Report to Shareholders, including the Company’s Audited Annual Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis

99.3

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

99.4

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act

99.5

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
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ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
for the year ended October 31, 2016
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2.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The following documents, which are filed on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. are incorporated herein by reference:
Financial Statements and notes thereto contained in the 2016 Annual Report on pages 7 to 18.
Management's Discussion and Analysis dated December 5, 2016 also contained in the 2016 Annual Report on pages 19 to 27.
Management Information Circular dated as of January 8, 2016.
REPORTING CURRENCY AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Currency amounts in this Annual Information Form and the documents which are incorporated herein by reference are stated in United States
dollars, except where otherwise specifically stated. As of December 5, 2016 the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers in United States
dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York was U.S. $1.00 = Cdn. $1.3272.
INCORPORATION
Central Fund of Canada Limited (“Central Fund” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on November 15,
1961 as a specialized investment holding company. Following its incorporation, Central Fund invested mainly in shares and other securities of Canadian issuers,
primarily with a view to capital appreciation. In September of 1983, Central Fund changed its character to that of a passive, non-operating, specialized
investment holding company the assets of which were then held through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, almost entirely in pure gold and silver bullion, primarily
in international bar form.
On April 5, 1990, Central Fund was continued as a corporation under the laws of the Province of Alberta and discontinued under the laws of the
Province of Ontario. Pursuant to the Asset Transfer Agreements dated as of June 30, 1990, between Central Fund and each of its then wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Central Fund purchased the assets of such subsidiaries, which consisted primarily of gold and silver in international bar form, and gold and silver
bullion certificates. These subsidiaries were in turn wound up and dissolved subsequent to the above transactions.
The Head Office of the Company is located at Suite 805, 1323 15th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T3C 0X8 and its registered office is at Parlee
McLaws LLP, 3300 TD Canada Trust Tower, Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K9. The Administrator's Shareholder and Investor Inquiries Office is located at 55 Broad
Leaf Crescent, Ancaster, Ontario L9G 3P2.
3.

DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY
General
Central Fund is a specialized investment holding company, the objective of which is to provide a secure, convenient, low-cost, exchange tradeable
investment alternative for investors interested in holding an investment in gold and silver bullion for long-term appreciation. Its policy is to invest virtually all of
its assets in long-term holdings of unencumbered, allocated and physically segregated gold and silver bullion, and not to speculate with regard to short-term
changes in gold and silver prices, thereby providing retail and institutional investors with an ability to effectively hold interests in gold and silver bullion
without the associated high transaction and handling costs and inconvenience. The investment policies established by the Board of Directors of Central Fund
require the Company to hold at least 90% of its net assets in gold and silver bullion, primarily in bar form. Although Central Fund’s investment policies permit
investing in securities, Central Fund disposed of its nominal holding of gold and silver related shares many years ago and does not intend to invest any of the
Company’s assets in those types of securities in the foreseeable future. As of October 31, 2016, Central Fund's total equity (referred to as “net assets”) had
a market value of approximately $3.5 billion and consisted of 60.8% gold bullion and certificates, 38.4% silver bullion and certificates and 0.8% cash
and other working capital amounts. Central Fund expects these relative percentages to vary from time to time. In early, 2016, the Company sold bullion to
fund dividend payments, repurchase its Class A non-voting shares in accordance with a Normal Course Issuer Bid, provide additional working capital and pay
for redemptions, if any, of Class A non-voting shares as is contemplated in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Liquidity and Capital Resources also
contained within the 2016 Annual Report to Shareholders. This action increased the relative percentage of cash. Central Fund believes that it is the only
company listed on a United States or Canadian stock exchange with the structure and the specific investment policies outlined below.
Investment Policies and Operations of Central Fund
Central Fund is a specialized investment holding company the investment objective of which is to hold almost all of its net assets in gold and silver
bullion, primarily in international bar form. Central Fund's investment policy is determined by its Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of its governing
articles. A summary of Central Fund's policy regarding the components of its net assets is as follows:
1.

At least 85% of Central Fund's net assets shall consist of long-term holdings of gold and silver bullion in bar form.

2.

At least 90% of Central Fund's net assets shall consist of gold and silver bullion in bar and certificate form.

3.

A nominal portion of Central Fund’s net assets not invested in gold and silver bullion may be invested in marketable securities related to the gold and
silver markets and industries, although it is not currently the policy to do so.

4.

Central Fund's policy is to only hold "cash assets" (consisting of cash and short-term obligations issued or guaranteed by the governments of Canada or
the United States, or any political subdivisions thereof and short-term deposits with financial institutions or investment grade commercial paper) for the
purposes of paying dividends, expenses and funding the Normal Course Issuer Bid, and to generate interest income.

5.

Generally, at the time it invests in gold and silver bullion, Central Fund intends that no more than 10% of its net assets shall be cash assets.
4.

With regard to Central Fund's holding of gold and silver bullion in bar form, it is Central Fund's policy to assess from time to time its mix of such gold
and silver bullion holdings based upon the Board of Directors’ analysis of the current, historical and projected gold to silver price relationship, supply and
demand factors and the Board of Directors’ analysis of Central Fund's current holdings of gold and silver bars. It is Central Fund's intention to hold both gold
and silver bars, but not necessarily in the same proportion as is currently held.
With regard to Central Fund's nominal holdings of bullion certificates, the relative proportions of these items against physical bullion may vary from
time to time according to the Board of Directors’ assessment of market factors.
The governing articles of Central Fund require that at least 75% of the market value of Central Fund's non-cash net assets be invested in gold and silver
bullion related investments. This requirement can be changed only with approval of the holders of Central Fund's Class A non-voting shares, to be given in the
manner set out under "Investment Restrictions" below.
Central Fund's earned income objective is secondary to its investment objective of passively holding almost all of its net assets in gold and silver
bullion, primarily in international bar form. Generally, Central Fund only seeks to maintain adequate cash reserves to enable it to pay expenses, to repurchase
Class A shares on an accretive basis to net asset value, for reserves for redemptions, if any, and to meet the Class A non-voting shares’ dividend requirements
for the near to medium term.
The Company periodically undertakes public offerings of its Class A non-voting shares when such offerings can be priced on a non-dilutive basis for
Class A non-voting shareholders.
Investment Restrictions
The governing articles of Central Fund contain provisions to the effect that Central Fund may not:
(i)

invest less than 75% of the market value of its non-cash net assets in gold and silver related investments;

(ii)

purchase any security (other than short-term government securities, short-term deposits with financial institutions and
investment grade commercial paper) issued by any issuer if, immediately after and as a result of such purchase, more than
10% of Central Fund's net assets would consist of securities issued by such issuer;

(iii)

purchase any security issued by any issuer if, immediately after and as a result of such purchase, Central Fund would own
more than 10% of any class of the outstanding securities issued by such issuer;

(iv)

purchase any security or property on margin or otherwise incur indebtedness (other than in the ordinary course related to
settlements of its principal positions in securities or bullion) aggregating at any time in excess of 5% of its total net assets;
5.

(v)

invest in securities of any issuer of which more than 5% of the issued and outstanding voting shares are beneficially owned,
either directly or indirectly, by any Officer or Director of Central Fund or by any person that shall, by agreement, be
responsible for administering or managing the affairs of Central Fund or for providing investment advice to Central Fund, or
any combination thereof; or

(vi)

purchase securities from, or sell securities to, any person that is the holder of 10% or more of Central Fund's Common
shares, any person that shall, by agreement, be responsible for administering or managing the affairs of Central Fund or for
providing investment advice to Central Fund, or any Officer or Director of any of the foregoing or of Central Fund.

There is no restriction on the maximum proportion of the assets of Central Fund which may be invested in gold and silver bullion.
The above restrictions can only be changed with the prior approval of the holders of the Class A non-voting shares then outstanding given in writing by
the holders of all of the Class A non-voting shares or by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the votes cast at a meeting of the holders of the Class A
non-voting shares duly called for such purpose. Within these restrictions the Board of Directors determines Central Fund's investment policies which may be
changed without notice to or vote by the holders of Class A non-voting shares. In connection with its U.S. public offering in August 1987, Central Fund
modified its investment policies to, among other things, increase the percentage of its non-cash net assets to be held in gold and silver in bar form and as
otherwise set forth herein. Prior to such offering, Central Fund had not changed its investment policies since 1983, and it has no present intention of changing
said policies.
Administration
Pursuant to an amended and restated Administrative and Consulting Agreement (the "Administration Agreement") with the Corporation dated
November 1, 2005, The Central Group Alberta Ltd. (the “Administrator"), is responsible for the general administration of the affairs of Central Fund under the
direction of the Board of Directors of Central Fund. This includes the provision of administrative and consulting services required by Central Fund, including
the provision of general market and economic advice with respect to the investment of Central Fund's assets in accordance with its investment policies and
restrictions. Under the terms of the Administration Agreement, the Administrator arranges, at its expense, for certain services from others, which currently
includes Mr. Michael A. Parente, a Director of Central Fund, who is engaged by the Administrator for the benefit of the Corporation to provide services in
respect of ongoing analysis and compliance in relation to the financial reporting requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and internal
control related matters and Mr. Douglas E. Heagle, the Chairman of NSBL International and a retired Director, who provides general advice to Central Fund.
The shares of the Administrator are sixty percent owned by Mr. Philip M. Spicer, and forty percent owned by his son, Mr. J.C. Stefan Spicer (Chairman,
President & CEO and a Director of Central Fund).
6.

In addition, the Administrator provides and pays for all office services, supplies and facilities and, through its staff and designated independent
contractors, generally oversees the day-to-day administration of Central Fund's affairs. Central Fund is responsible for the payment of direct expenses such as
brokerage, listing, legal, audit, insurance, safekeeping, transfer agent fees, Directors' fees and expenses, taxes and expenses incurred with respect to reporting to
its shareholders. It is Central Fund's intention that its total annual expenses, including the fees payable to the Administrator under the Administration Agreement
but excluding income taxes, not exceed one percent of its total assets; however, in view of the costs associated with maintaining holdings of gold and silver
bullion, Central Fund cannot assure that its annual expenses will not exceed one percent.
In consideration for services rendered pursuant to the Administration Agreement, Central Fund pays the Administrator a monthly administration and
consulting fee based on Central Fund's net assets determined at such month-end. From 1996 through to October 31, 2005, the fee was computed at the annual
rate of one-half of one percent of Central Fund's net assets up to $50,000,000, three-eighths of one percent on such assets from $50,000,001 to $100,000,000
and one-quarter of one percent on such assets over $100,000,000. Effective November 1, 2005 the fee schedule was reduced for at least a ten-year term.
Therefore, for at least the next two years the annual fee will be computed at 0.30% on the first $400 million of total net assets, 0.20% on the next $600 million
of total net assets and 0.15% on total net assets exceeding $1 billion. The approval of the reduced administrative and consulting fee schedule followed Board
Committees’ requests on August 8, 2005 for the review of agreements of the Administrator. Fees paid by Central Fund to the Administrator for the fiscal years
ended October 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were, in U.S. dollars, $6,244,779, 6,016,915, and $6,700,250 respectively. The Administration Agreement may be
amended at the discretion of Central Fund's Board of Directors and the Administrator without the approval of Central Fund's shareholders.
The Administration Agreement is currently in force until October 31, 2018 and continues in force for three-year periods thereafter unless terminated by
Central Fund. Central Fund may at any time effect such termination effective as of such maturity or any renewal thereof by not less than sixty days prior notice
if a majority of the Directors of Central Fund (excluding such as are also directors, officers, employees or shareholders of the Administrator or advisors to
Central Fund through the Administrator) determine that the performance by the Administrator of its obligations thereunder is not satisfactory and if such
termination is then approved by the holders of Class A non-voting shares, such approval to be given by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes
cast at a meeting of such holders called pursuant to the articles and by-laws of Central Fund for such purpose.
Brokerage Allocation
Central Fund has no pre-arrangement, formula or method for allocating the brokerage business arising from its purchases and sales of bullion.
Transactions in bullion are generally done with a dealer acting as principal and thus are done on a net price basis, which reflects the dealer’s spread between bid
and asked prices. Central Fund's policy is to execute all bullion transactions at the most favourable prices consistent with the best execution, considering all of
the costs of the transactions, including brokerage commissions, spreads and delivery charges. This policy governs the selection of brokers and dealers and the
market in which a transaction is executed.
Competitive Factors
Because gold and silver prices are established in an extensive international market which is not dominated by any single party, Central Fund believes
that it competes on an equal basis with other entities when buying and, should it be required, selling gold and silver bullion and bullion related investments.
7.

Principal Assets
Central Fund's assets consist almost entirely of gold and silver bullion, all of which is stored in the Class 3 rated vaults of the Canadian Imperial Bank
of Commerce (“CIBC”) in Montreal, Toronto, Regina, and Winnipeg, Canada. As at October 31, 2016, the composition of gold and silver bullion held by
Central Fund was as follows:
Gold Bullion:
Long-term physical holdings, 400 fine oz. bars
Long-term physical holdings, 100 fine oz. bars
Bullion certificates issued by CIBC

Fine Ounces
1,654,851
9,359
8,435
1,672,645

Silver Bullion:
Long-term physical holdings, 1000 oz. bars
Bullion certificates issued by CIBC

Ounces
75,336,953
307,149
75,644,102

Central Fund’s gold and silver bars are segregated, specifically identified by refiner, bar number, fineness and weight, and CIBC carries certain
insurance for their custodial business. Central Fund’s physical bullion holdings, or any portion thereof, may only be released by CIBC upon receipt of a certified
resolution of Central Fund's Board of Directors authorizing such release.
Central Fund’s nominal holdings of bullion certificates are deposited with CIBC, registered in the nominee name of CIBC, and are insured by it and not
by Central Fund itself. Central Fund, as holder of the bullion certificates, may demand delivery of the underlying bullion at the head office of the certificate
issuer. In the case of bullion certificates issued by CIBC, the certificate holder has no security interest in the underlying bullion and thus the ability to receive
delivery upon demand could be adversely affected by factors which may influence the credit worthiness of CIBC. At October 31, 2016, CIBC's total assets were
approximately Cdn. $501 billion, and its net worth was approximately Cdn. $23.7 billion.
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The selected financial information reflects the application of IFRS, whereby gold and silver holdings, which have been measured at fair value, with
realized gains and losses and unrealized appreciation or depreciation of holdings recorded in income based on the IAS 40 Investment Property, as IAS 40 is the
most relevant standard to apply.
Prior to the implementation of IFRS, the Company, beginning in 2004 utilized Accounting Guideline 18, Investment Companies (“AcG - 18 “), which
required similar treatment as that noted under IFRS above. While the Company’s accounting policy prior to the adoption of AcG -18 had been to measure
investments at market value, the Company did not recognize any unrealized gains and losses in income, but instead recognized them as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity until such gains or losses were realized, at which time they were recognized as such.
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The net asset value of Central Fund is identical under IFRS and United States GAAP.
The following presentation of selected financial data for the last three fiscal years reflects the application of IFRS, including its retroactive application in respect
of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2014:

Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings (in millions)
Net income (loss) for the year inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of
holdings (in millions)
Net income (loss) per Class A share
Total net assets (in millions)
Change in net assets from prior year (in millions)
% change from prior year
Change in net assets per Class A share from prior year
% change from prior year
Gold price (U.S. $ per fine ounce)
% change from prior year
Silver price (U.S. $ per ounce)
% change from prior year
Exchange rate: $1.00 U.S. = Cdn.
% change from prior year

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2016
U.S.$

Years ended October 31
2015
U.S.$
366.3 $
(81.0) $

370.4
1.46
3,501.4
359.4
11.4%
1.44
11.7%
1,272.00
11.3%
17.76
13.6%
1.3403
2.4%

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(93.3)
(0.37)
3,142.0
(95.9)
(3.0)%
(0.37)
(2.9)%
1,142.35
(1.9)%
15.63
(3.5)%
1.3083
16.0%

2014
U.S.$

$
$
$
$

(732.5)

(744.2)
(2.92)
3,237.9
(746.7)
(18.7)%
(2.94)
(18.8)%
1,164.25
(12.1)%
16.20
(27.0)%
1.1275
8.1%

$
$
$
$

Exchange Rate
The Canadian dollar exchange rates for United States dollars for each of the years in the five-year period ended October 31, 2016 as reported by the
Bank of Canada were as follows:
Year Ended October 31
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Cdn. $ per U.S. $1.00
Average

Last

1.0047
1.0198
1.0906
1.2448
1.3267

Low
0.9996
1.0429
1.1275
1.3083
1.3403
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High
0.9710
0.9839
1.0415
1.1236
1.2544

1.0487
1.0576
1.1289
1.3413
1.4589

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The information set forth within the 2016 Annual Report entitled Management’s Discussion and Analysis of December 5, 2016 is incorporated herein
by reference.
CAPITAL STRUCTURE, DIVIDENDS AND MARKET FOR SECURITIES
Capital Structure
The authorized capital of the Company consists of 50,000 Common shares without nominal or par value, of which 40,000 such shares were issued and
outstanding at the date hereof, and an unlimited number of non-voting Class A shares (the “Class A non-voting shares”) with the rights as set forth below and
without nominal or par value, of which 253,803,391 such shares were issued and outstanding as at October 31, 2016.
Class A Non-voting Shares
Notice of Meetings:
Holders of Class A non-voting shares are entitled to notice of and to attend all meetings of shareholders. Holders of Class A non-voting shares are not
entitled to vote at any meetings of shareholders of Central Fund except as provided for by law and with respect to those matters set out in the articles of the
Company, the majority of which are described below.
Certain Voting Rights:
So long as any Class A non-voting shares are outstanding, Central Fund shall not, without the prior approval of the holders thereof given by the
affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the votes cast at a meeting of the holders of the Class A non-voting shares duly called for that purpose:
(i)

approve any change in the minimum amount of Central Fund’s assets which must be invested in gold and silver related
investments as required by its articles of incorporation. This minimum amount is currently set at 75% of the market value of
the non-cash net assets of the Company;

(ii)

approve any change in the restrictions on the investments which Central Fund is permitted to make;

(iii)

issue more than an additional 10,000 Common shares;

(iv)

create any class of shares ranking in preference or priority to the Class A non-voting shares:

(v)

create any class of shares ranking as to dividends in preference to or on a parity with the Common shares:

(vi)

consolidate or subdivide the Common shares, except where the Class A non-voting shares are consolidated or subdivided on
the same basis;
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(vii)

reclassify any shares into Class A non-voting shares or Common shares; or

(viii)

provide to the holders of any other class of shares the right to convert into Class A non-voting shares or Common shares.

In addition, so long as any of the Class A non-voting shares are outstanding, Central Fund shall not, without the prior approval of the holders thereof given by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of the holders of the Class A non-voting shares duly called for that purpose, appoint any person,
firm or corporation to replace the Administrator (or any duly authorized replacement of the Administrator) or to perform generally the duties and responsibilities
of the Administrator under the Administration Agreement.
Dividends:
The Class A non-voting shares are entitled to receive a preferential non-cumulative dividend of U.S. $0.01 per share per annum and thereafter to
participate pro rata in any further dividends with the Common shares on a share-for-share basis.
Purchase for Cancellation of Class A Non-voting Shares:
Central Fund may, at any time or times, subject to applicable regulatory requirements, purchase for cancellation in the open market or by invitation for
tenders to all holders all or any part of the Class A non-voting shares then outstanding at the market price or lowest tender price per Class A non-voting share, as
the case may be.
Rights on Liquidation:
In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Central Fund, the holders of Class A non-voting shares are entitled to receive U.S. $3.00
per share together with any declared and unpaid dividends thereon, calculated to the date of payment before any amount is paid or any assets of Central Fund are
distributed to the holders of Common shares or any shares ranking junior to the Class A non-voting shares. The holders of Class A non-voting shares are entitled
to participate pro rata in any further distributions of the assets of Central Fund with the holders of the then outstanding Common shares on a share-for-share
basis.
Retraction:
Any holder of Class A non-voting shares is entitled, upon 90 days’ notice, to require Central Fund to redeem on the last day of any of Central Fund’s
fiscal quarters, all or any of the Class A non-voting shares which that person then owns. The retraction price per Class A non-voting share shall be 80% of the
net asset value per Class A non-voting share as of the date on which such Class A non-voting shares are redeemed. The articles of Central Fund provide for the
suspension of redemptions during specified unusual circumstances such as suspensions of normal trading on certain stock exchanges or the London bullion
market or to comply with applicable laws and regulations.
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The holders of Class A non-voting shares have no right to participate if a takeover bid is made for the Common shares of Central Fund.
Common Shares
The Common shares entitle the holders to one vote per share at all annual and general meetings of the shareholders. The rights of Common shares in
respect of dividends and upon liquidation rank secondary to those of the Class A non-voting shares as described above.
Dividends
As indicated above, the Company pays an annual dividend of U.S. $0.01 per Class A non-voting share under the rights attaching to such shares. The
dividend amounts paid in respect of the fiscal years ended October 31 in 2016, 2015 and 2014 were U.S. 2,538,034, U.S. $2,544,327, and U.S. $2,544,327
respectively.
Market for Securities
Central Fund's Class A non-voting shares have been listed on the NYSE MKT (formerly known as the NYSE Amex and prior to that as the American
Stock Exchange) since April 3, 1986 and on The Toronto Stock Exchange since 1965. On December 5, 2016, there were 1,069 registered holders of record of
the Class A non-voting shares, the substantial majority of beneficial holdings being in unregistered form.
The following table sets forth the high and low net asset value of Central Fund's Class A non-voting shares based upon the daily London P.M. gold fix
and the daily London silver fix as well as the high and low closing market prices per Class A non-voting share and trading volumes as reported on such
exchanges for the 12 months ended October 31, 2016:

Fiscal Month Ended
2015 - November 30
December 31
2016- January 31
February 28
March 31
April 30
May 31
June 30
July 31
August 31
September 30
October 31

Net Asset Value
(U.S. $)
High
Low
12.22
11.32
11.56
11.23
11.79
13.00
13.19
13.94
13.89
14.32
15.23
15.29
14.95
14.50

11.41
11.83
12.72
12.64
12.92
12.90
14.58
14.35
14.32
13.59

High
11.08
10.37

NYSE MKT
(U.S. $)
Low
10.03
9.89

Volume
14,674,441
21,400,141

10.75
12.29
12.34
13.12
13.28
13.90
14.85
14.72
14.30
13.78

10.13
10.85
11.72
11.72
12.40
12.43
13.77
13.64
13.62
13.00

15,309,149
22,130,766
14,783,435
25,847,085
18,042,638
21,240,688
21,708,782
16,818,051
10,113,155
14,409,778

Toronto Stock Exchange
(Cdn. $)
High
Low
Volume
14.46
13.36
859,048
14.43
13.31
821,927
15.13
16.95
16.44
16.46
17.09
18.02
19.36
19.31
18.55
18.09

Central Fund's 40,000 issued and outstanding Common shares are closely held and are not listed on any exchange.
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14.12
15.12
15.50
15.32
16.13
16.15
18.12
17.65
17.96
17.10

1,384,364
2,065,717
1,856,172
1,321,917
1,422,487
1,859,195
1,668,770
1,064,362
929,913
820,270

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Directors and Officers of Central Fund are listed below. Terms of office run from the date of election or appointment until the close of the next
annual meeting.
Name, Residence and Principal Occupation
Barry R. Cooper BSc, MBA
Oakville, Ontario
Retired Mining Analyst
John S. Elder Q.C.
Toronto, Ontario
Owner, Anchor Corporate Governance
(Law Firm)
Dr. Glenn C. Fox BSc (Agr), MSc, PhD
Rockwood, Ontario
Agricultural and Natural Resource Economist
Bruce D. Heagle BA, MBA, ICD.D
Ancaster, Ontario
President, NSBL International
(International Investor)
Michael A. Parente CPA, CMA, CFP
Hamilton, Ontario
President, M.A.P. Consulting and Financial Services
Jason A. Schwandt P.Eng., MBA
Burlington, Ontario
President, J. A. Schwandt Engineering Inc.
Dale R. Spackman Q.C.
Calgary, Alberta
Partner, Parlee McLaws LLP
(Barristers & Solicitors)
J.C. Stefan Spicer
Lynden, Ontario
Chairman, President & CEO, Central Fund
Catherine A. Spackman CPA, CMA
Calgary, Alberta
Treasurer, The Central Group Alberta Ltd.
(Administrator of Central Fund)
Teresa E. Poper CB
Ancaster, Ontario
Assistant Treasurer
Notes:
(A)

Member of Audit Committee

See "Audit Committee Matters" below.
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Position and Office
with Central Fund
Director
(A)(I)

Year Elected or
Appointed to Position
2015

Secretary

1983

Director
(C)(I)(L)

2015

Director
(A)(C)(I)

2011

Director
(C)(I)

1992

Director
(A)(I)

2015

Vice-Chairman
and Director

2001
1990

Chairman,
President, CEO
and Director
Treasurer
and CFO

1997
1995

Assistant Treasurer

2005

1989
2003

(C)

Member of Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for: developing the Company's approach to governance issues; reviewing the effectiveness of the
Board’s practices in light of emerging and changing regulatory requirements; assessing new nominees for the Board and planning education programs for them;
and assessing the size, composition and effectiveness of the Board as a whole and of the Committees as well as assessing the contribution of individual Board
members. The Committee’s responsibility extends to ensuring that the Board can function independently of the Senior Executive Officers and monitoring the
Board’s relationship to the Senior Executive Officers. It reviews the communications policy of the Corporation to ensure that communications to shareholders,
regulators and the investing public are factual and timely, are broadly disseminated in accordance with applicable policy and law and treat all shareholders fairly
with respect to disclosure. The Committee recommends topics of interest or importance for discussion and/or action by the Board. It annually reviews the
charters, mandates and policies of the Corporation, the timing and adequacy of materials provided to Directors or Committee members, the continuing
qualifications and contribution of individual members as well as any conflicts of interest and time commitments. It also reviews the adequacy and form of the
compensation of Directors to ensure that the compensation realistically reflects the responsibilities and risks involved in being an effective Director. The
Committee is also responsible for approving the engagement by one or more Directors of an outside legal or other advisor at the expense of the Corporation
should such extraordinary circumstances ever arise. The Committee meets independently of Senior Executive Officers from time to time or as necessary. Mr.
Fox chairs the Corporate Governance Committee.
(I)

In the view of the Board, is independent under the corporate governance guidelines of the Canadian Securities Administrators.

(L)

Lead Director.

AUDIT COMMITTEE MATTERS
Composition and Background
The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Messrs. Barry R. Cooper, Bruce D. Heagle, and Jason A. Schwandt. Mr. Heagle serves as its
Chairman.
Each is "independent" as contemplated by National Instrument 52-110 (“NI 52-110”) of the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and each is
financially literate, meaning that each has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of
accounting issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the financial statements of Central Fund. Each of the members of the Audit Committee, is
regarded by the Board, by virtue of his respective education and/or business background, as well as experience with Central Fund, as having: (a) a basis for
understanding the accounting principles used by the Company to prepare its financial statements; (b) the ability to assess the general application of such
accounting principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves; (c) experience analyzing or evaluating financial statements of the
type referred to above and (d) an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting.
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Mr. Cooper has been a highly ranked precious metals analyst for many years, which has, among other things, involved review of innumerable financial
statements as part of his assessment of mining equities and advisory work on valuations and risk analysis. Mr. Heagle has an MBA from the Richard Ivey
Business School. He has been an officer since 1982 and President and a director of National System of Baking Ltd. since 1991 and is President of its division,
NSBL International (private capital investments). Mr. Schwandt is a consultant who holds an MBA and Professional Engineer designation, has previously
owned a corporate tax credit and cost-reduction consultancy and has held various managerial roles.
Responsibilities
The Audit Committee fulfils its responsibilities within the context of the following guidelines:
x

the Committee communicates its expectations to the Senior Executive Officers and the external Auditors with respect to the nature, extent and
timing of its information needs. The Committee expects that draft financial statements and other written materials will be received from the Senior
Executive Officers several days in advance of Committee meeting dates;

x

the Committee, in consultation with the Officers and the external Auditors, develops an Audit Committee agenda which is responsive to the
Committee's needs as set out in its charter;

x

the Committee, in consultation with the Senior Executive Officers and the external Auditors, reviews important financial issues and emerging
audit, accounting and governance standards which may impact the Corporation's financial disclosure and presentation;

x

the Chairman of the Committee and other Audit Committee members have direct, open and frank discussions during the year with the Senior
Executive Officers, other Board members and the external Auditors as required;

x

to assist the Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities, it may, at the expense of the Corporation and after consultation with the President, engage
an outside advisor with special expertise;

x

as the external Auditor's responsibility is not only to the Board of Directors but to the Audit Committee as representatives of the shareholders, the
Committee expects the external Auditors to report to it all material issues arising out of their services or relationship with the Corporation; and

x

the Committee pre-approves both audit and non-audit services performed by the external Auditor.

Charter
The charter of the Audit Committee is as follows:
“Purpose
The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the board of directors of the Corporation (the "Board") in fulfilling their oversight
responsibilities by reviewing:
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(a)

selection, independence and effectiveness of the external Auditors;

(b)

the financial statements and other financial information and reports which will be provided to the shareholders and others;

(c)

the financial reporting process; and

(d)

the Corporation’s internal audit activity and controls.

The external Auditors’ ultimate responsibility is to the Corporation and the Audit Committee, as representatives of the shareholders. These
representatives have the ultimate authority to evaluate and, where appropriate, recommend replacement of the external Auditors.
The Committee shall be given full access to the Corporation’s records, those of Central Group Alberta Ltd. (the “Administrator”) and access to
the external Auditors as necessary to carry out these responsibilities.
Although the Audit Committee has the powers and responsibilities set forth in this Charter, the role of the Audit Committee is
oversight. The members of the Audit Committee are not employees of the Corporation or the Administrator. It is not the duty of the Audit
Committee to conduct audits or to determine that the Corporation’s financial statements and disclosures are complete and accurate and are in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for publicly accountable enterprises comprised of International Financial
Reporting Standards as outlined in Part I of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook – Accounting (“Canadian GAAP”)
and acceptable rules and regulations. These are the responsibilities of the Senior Executive Officers. The external Auditors’ responsibility is to
perform an audit to determine whether the financial statements prepared by the Senior Executive Officers are, in all material respects in
accordance with Canadian GAAP.
Qualification of Members
1.
The members of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) shall be three or more in number and be “independent” as defined in and in
compliance with National Instrument 52-110 of the Canadian securities regulators. “Independent” for this purpose means that a member has
no direct or indirect material relationship with the Corporation which could, in the view of the Board, reasonably interfere with his or her
independent judgment. Members of the Committee shall not receive any remuneration other than for acting as a member of the Committee or
another Committee or as a Board member or for a project assigned to him or her by the Committee or other committee or the Board.
2.
All members of the Committee shall, as stipulated in National Instrument 52-110, be “financially literate”, that is to say have the
ability to read and understand financial statements and related notes that present a breadth and level of accounting issues that are generally
comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Corporation’s financial statements.
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Operating Procedures
1.
The Committee requires that the Senior Executive Officers provide for review draft annual and quarterly financial statements, annual
and quarterly reports, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Annual Information Form and press releases where relevant, in a timely
manner before the scheduled Committee meetings.
2.
The Committee meets annually in December (twice) so as to be able to review the draft annual audited financial statements, Integrated
Audit Results and related materials, and meets quarterly as required to review the draft first, second and third quarter unaudited financial
statements and the accompanying report to shareholders as well as the external Auditors’ review report on the quarter.
3.

At least annually, the Committee reviews its effectiveness and the contribution of each of its members.

4.
The Committee shall have adequate resources and authority to discharge its responsibilities and will expect the external Auditors to
generally conform with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”).
5.
The Committee shall have the authority to engage and compensate independent counsel and other advisors which it determines are
necessary to enable the Committee to carry out its duties, and to communicate directly with the external Auditors.
Relationship with External Auditors and Review Responsibilities
1.
The external Auditors are accountable to the Board and the Committee, as representatives of the shareholders of the Corporation. As
such representatives, the Committee has overall responsibility for selection of the external Auditors and recommends to the Board, the external
Auditors’ firm to be put forward for shareholder approval at each annual meeting. The Committee will only select external Auditors that (a)
participates in the oversight programme of the Canadian Public Accountability Board (the “CPAB”) and the PCAOB and (b) are in good
standing with the CPAB and PCAOB.
2.
The Committee annually reviews and discusses communications from the external Auditors detailing factors that might have an
impact on the Auditors’ independence, including all services provided and fees charged by the external Auditors as required by the Canadian
Securities Administrators or Chartered Professional Accountants Canada and the standards and rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB to the extent applicable. The Committee satisfies itself regarding the independence of the Auditors and reports
its conclusions, and the basis for those conclusions, to the Board.
3.
The Committee reviews and recommends to the Board for approval the annual audited financial statements and accompanying report
to shareholders as well as related documents such as the Annual Information Form or equivalent filings and the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis.
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4.
The Committee also reviews and recommends to the Board for approval the unaudited financial statements for the first, second and
third quarters, Management's Discussion and Analysis and related reports to shareholders.
5.
The Committee is responsible for approving the scope of the annual audit, the audit plan, the access granted to the Corporation’s
records and the co-operation of the Senior Executive Officers and officers of the Administrator in any audit and review function.
6.
The external Auditors are required to communicate with the Committee on matters relating to the planning, conduct and results of the
audit and to discuss with the Committee its views about the quality of the accounting policies adopted by the Senior Financial Officers in
preparing the financial statements with a particular focus on the accounting estimates and judgments made by the Senior Executive Officers
and their selection of accounting principles. The Committee meets in private with appropriate Senior Executive Officers and separately with
the external Auditors to share perceptions on these matters, discuss any potential concerns and agree upon appropriate action plans.
7.
The Committee is responsible for reviewing the communications from the external Auditors relating to material weakness in internal
control over financial reporting.
8.
The Committee is responsible for reviewing the work of the external Auditors, including their findings and recommendations, as well
as the Senior Executive Officers’ response to any such findings and recommendations, and resolving any disagreements between them and the
external Auditors regarding financial reporting.
9.
The Committee should pre-approve all audit services and any non-audit services to be provided by its external Auditors or any public
accounting firm.
10.
The Committee should review with the external Auditors any public report of the CPAB or PCAOB referable to audit quality issues
pertaining to the external Auditors.
11.
The Committee is responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the working relationship of the external Auditors with the Senior
Executive Officers.
12.
The Committee is responsible for reviewing annually the performance of, and approving the fees charged by, the external Auditors
and for performing a comprehensive review of the external Auditors not less often then every five years.
13.
The Committee is also responsible, when circumstances dictate, for recommending to the Board the removal and replacement of
external Auditors.
14.
The Committee shall establish procedures for dealing with complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
matters and for the confidential, anonymous submission by Officers of the Corporation or officers and employees of the Administrator
regarding such matters (i.e. whistle-blowing).
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15.
The Committee shall review and approve the hiring by the Administrator of employees and former employees of the external
Auditors who were involved in audit of the Corporation’s accounts.
16.

The Committee shall review and comment to the Board on all related-party transactions.

17.

The Committee shall review any change in the Corporation’s Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers.

18.
The Committee shall, when feasible, review the relevant portions of any prospectuses, registration statements, information circulars
and other reporting issuer or disclosure statements of the Corporation involving and as related to financial disclosure.
Relationship to Internal Audit
1.
The Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the Senior Executive Officers’ decisions relating to any potential need for
internal auditing, including whether this function should be outsourced and if such function is outsourced, to approve the supplier of such
service.
2.
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Senior Executive Officers have designed and are implementing an effective system
of internal control over financial reporting.
Disclosure
1.
The Committee provides a report annually to the shareholders, as part of the Information Circular for the annual meeting, which
briefly summarizes the nature of the activities of the Committee.
Procedures
1.
The times and locations of meetings of the Committee, the calling of such meetings and all aspects of procedure at such meetings,
except to the extent that regularly scheduled meetings are approved annually by the Board, shall be determined by the Chair or Secretary of
the Committee, as the case may be, provided that in every case:
(a)

the presence of at least two members shall be necessary to constitute a quorum; and

(b)
the acts of the Committee or any sub-committee, at a duly constituted meeting, shall require no more than the vote of a majority of
the members present and that, furthermore, in any circumstance, a resolution or other instrument in writing signed by all members of the
Committee shall avail as the act of the Committee.
19.

2.

The Secretary of the Corporation, failing which the Assistant Secretary of the Corporation, shall be the Secretary of the Committee.”

The following table sets out information in relation to the fees of the Auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, and Accounting Oversight Boards, in respect of
the past two fiscal years of the Company:
Fiscal Year Ended

Audit Fees(1)

October 31, 2016
October 31, 2015

$
$

89,790
89,798

Audit-Related Fees(2) Tax Fees(3)
—
—

All Other Fees(4)
— $
— $

25,000
27,417

Note (1) Includes audit and review of financial statements for statutory and regulatory filings of the Company.
(2) Audit-related Fees includes professional fees billed by the Company’s auditor related to assurances and related services related to the
performance of the audit or review of the financial statements not included in “Audit Fees”.
(3) Tax

Fees include the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

(4) All Other Fees include an accounting support fee paid to the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

The Audit Committee is required to approve all non-audit work undertaken by the Auditors. As a matter of policy, the Auditors are precluded by the
Board of Directors from supplying: actuarial services; appraisal or evaluation services; fairness opinion or contribution-in-kind reports; bookkeeping or other
services related to the accounting records or financial statements; broker or dealer, investment advisor or investment banking services; financial information
systems design and implementation; internal audit outsourcing; legal or expert services related to the audit; and management functions or human resources.
RISK FACTORS
Shareholders and prospective investors should consider the following factors relating to the business and primary assets of Central Fund:
Gold and Silver Price Volatility
Central Fund’s affairs almost entirely involve purchasing and holding pure gold and silver bullion. Therefore, the principal factors affecting the price of
its shares are factors which affect the price of gold and silver. Central Fund’s gold and silver bullion assets are traded internationally and are denominated in
U.S. dollars. As at October 31, 2016, the Company’s net assets were made up of 60.8% gold bullion and certificates, 38.4% silver bullion and certificates and
0.8% cash and other working capital amounts. Central Fund does not engage in any leasing, lending or hedging activities involving its assets, so the value of the
shares will depend on, and typically fluctuate with, the price fluctuations of gold and silver. The prices of gold and silver bullion may be affected by a variety of
unpredictable, international, economic, monetary and political factors including:
20.

x

global gold and silver supply and demand, which is influenced by such factors as: (i) forward selling by gold and silver producers; (ii) purchases
made by gold and silver producers to unwind gold and silver hedge positions; (iii) central bank purchases and sales; and (iv) production and cost
levels in major gold-and-silver producing countries;

x

investors’ expectations with respect to various rates of inflation;

x

exchange rate volatility of the U.S. dollar, the principal currency in which the price of gold and silver is generally quoted;

x

the volatility of interest rates; and

x

unexpected global, or regional, political or economic incidents.

Changing tax, royalty and land and mineral rights ownership and leasing regulations under different political regimes can impact market functions and
expectations for future gold and silver supply. This can impact both gold and silver mining shares, and the relative prices of other commodities, which can also
be competitive factors that impact investor decisions with respect to investing in gold and silver and in the Class A non-voting shares of Central Fund.
Foreign Exchange Rates
Central Fund maintains its accounting records, purchases gold and silver and reports its financial position and results in U.S. currency. However,
certain of Central Fund’s expenses are paid, and the Class A non-voting shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”), in Canadian currency. Therefore,
because exchange rate fluctuations are beyond Central Fund’s control, there can be no assurance that such fluctuations will not have an effect on Central Fund,
its net asset value or on the trading price of the Class A non-voting shares.
Uninsured and Underinsured Losses
All of the gold and silver bullion owned by Central Fund is stored on an unencumbered and allocated basis in the treasury vaults of the Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce (the “Bank”) in segregated safekeeping. While insurance is carried by such custodian, there is no assurance that such insurance is
sufficient to satisfy any losses incurred by the custodian in respect of its relationship with Central Fund. In addition, Central Fund is not a named beneficiary
under such insurance and would have to rely on the custodian’s efforts to recover its losses. Should such losses be found to be the fault of the custodian,
recovery might be limited to the value of the gold and silver bullion at the time the loss is discovered. Any of the foregoing concerns could negatively affect the
value of the assets of Central Fund.
Net Asset Value
The net asset value of Central Fund’s gold and silver assets is based on the spot price reported for gold and silver bullion, respectively. Accordingly,
the market value of the Class A non-voting shares may, at any time, be greater or less than the realizable value of the underlying assets, being primarily the
gold, silver and cash owned by Central Fund. Central Fund has no control over the factors that affect the value of the gold and silver bullion held by Central
Fund, including factors that affect gold and silver prices generally, such as general economic and political conditions and fluctuations in interest rates, and
factors unique to the gold or silver industry.
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Price Volatility of Other Commodities
Central Fund’s affairs may be affected to a limited extent by the price of other commodities which may be viewed by investors as competitively priced
or as an alternative to investing in gold and silver related investments.
Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations
If Central Fund were to cease to qualify as a “mutual fund corporation” under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”), the income tax
considerations would be materially and adversely different in certain respects.
There can be no assurance that Canadian federal income tax laws and the administrative and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency
respecting the treatment of mutual fund corporations and the tax applicable to gains and losses will not be further changed or interpreted in a manner which
adversely affects Class A shareholders.
United States Federal Income Tax Considerations
Central Fund has been, and expects to continue to be a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for United States federal income tax purposes.
Under the PFIC rules, the United States federal income tax treatment of the Class A non-voting shares is very complex and, in certain cases, uncertain or
potentially unfavorable to United States shareholders. Under current law, a non-corporate United States shareholder who has in effect a valid election to treat
Central Fund as a qualified electing fund (“QEF”) should be eligible for the 20% maximum United States federal income tax rate on a sale or other taxable
disposition of Central Fund’s shares, if such shares have been held for more than one year at the time of sale or other taxable disposition. Gain from the
disposition of collectibles, such as gold or silver, however, is currently subject to a maximum United States federal income tax rate of 28%. The Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) has authority to issue Treasury regulations applying the 28% tax rate to a gain from the sale by a non-corporate United States
shareholder of an interest in a PFIC with respect to which a QEF election is in effect. Although no such Treasury regulations have been issued to date, there can
be no assurance as to whether, when or with what effective date any such Treasury regulations may be issued, or whether any such Treasury regulations would
subject long-term capital gains recognized by a United States shareholder (a “U.S. Holder”) that has made a QEF election on a disposition of Central Fund
shares to the 28% rate. U.S. Holders should be aware that if they purchase Class A non-voting shares and make a QEF election, the IRS may issue regulations or
other guidance, possibly on a retroactive basis, which would apply the higher 28% United States federal income tax rate to any long-term capital gain
recognized on a sale of their Central Fund shares. In addition, a gain from the disposition of Class A non-voting shares may be subject to the 3.8% Medicare
surtax. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the implications of making a QEF election with respect to Central Fund.
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Under the QEF rules, in the event that Central Fund disposes of a portion of its gold or silver holdings, including dispositions in the course of varying
its relative investment between gold and silver, United States shareholders who have made a QEF election may be required to report substantial amounts of
income for United States federal income tax purposes (in the absence of any cash distributions received from Central Fund). Historically, Central Fund has
declared and paid a cash distribution of U.S. $0.01 per share (prior to 1996, Cdn. $0.01 per share) on its outstanding Class A non-voting shares. In addition, it is
the intention of Central Fund to distribute to holders of record of Class A non-voting shares and common shares as of the last day of each taxable year (currently
October 31) an aggregate amount of cash distributions (including the stated distributions on the Class A non-voting shares) such that the amount of cash
distributions payable to an electing shareholder that holds Class A non-voting shares for the entire taxable year of Central Fund will be at least equal to the
product of (i) Central Fund’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” for such taxable year allocable to such electing Shareholder and (ii) the highest
marginal rate of United States federal income tax on ordinary income or long-term capital gain, as appropriate, applicable to individuals. Because such cash
distributions may be subject to Canadian withholding tax and because the amount of such cash distributions will be determined without reference to possible
United States state or local income tax liabilities or to the rate of United States federal income tax applicable to corporate United States shareholders, such cash
distributions may not provide an electing Shareholder with sufficient cash to pay the United States federal income tax liability arising from the inclusion in
income of the electing Shareholders’ pro rata share of Central Fund’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” under the QEF rules.
Each United States person that acquires Class A non-voting shares, whether from Central Fund or in the secondary market, is strongly urged to consult
his, her or its own tax advisor.
Enhanced Corporate Governance and Disclosure Regulations
The Company’s business is subject to evolving corporate governance and public disclosure regulations that have increased both the Company’s
compliance costs and the risk of noncompliance, which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s stock price.
The Company is subject to changing rules and regulations, primarily those promulgated by a number of United States and Canadian governmental and
self-regulated organizations, including the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the Canadian Securities Administrators, the New
York Stock Exchange, the TSX, and the Financial Accounting Standards Board. These rules and regulations continue to evolve in scope and complexity and
many new requirements have been created in response to laws enacted by the United States Congress, making compliance more difficult and uncertain. For
example, the United States Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act on July 10, 2010 which resulted in increased
reporting and disclosure. The Company’s efforts to comply with the Dodd-Frank Act, the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder,
and other new rules and regulations have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased general and administrative effort and expenses.
“Conflict Minerals” Rules
The “conflict minerals” rules promulgated under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act may impact the value of the
physical gold held by the Company in future periods.
On July 21, 2010, the United States Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which resulted in the SEC
adopting rules that will require disclosure on an annual basis beginning in 2014, whether certain “conflict minerals” necessary to the functionality or production
of a product manufactured by such company originated in the Democratic Republic of Congo (the “DRC”) or an adjoining country. Gold acquired by the
Company prior to January 31, 2013 is considered to be “outside the supply chain” and not subject to the “conflict minerals” rules. The sellers of bullion to the
Company will be required to confirm to it that gold supplied is “DRC conflict free” under the “conflict minerals” rules or similar rules and regulations
promulgated by other countries or organizations and should a supplier be unable to do so, the value of the gold acquired by the Company in the future may be
adversely affected. Central Fund only purchases refined gold bullion through Canadian based banks. The gold bullion is refined by and delivered directly to its
custodian from North American based refiners who meet the International Good Delivery Standards as set by the London Bullion Market Association (LBMA).
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Future Offerings
Central Fund may only undertake offerings of Class A non-voting shares where the net proceeds per share to be received by Central Fund are not less
than the net asset value calculated at the time of pricing an offering. Accordingly, the price at which Class A non-voting shares are offered to the public (other
than in a rights offering to existing shareholders) may be below the trading price of Class A non-voting shares on the NYSE MKT or TSX at the time of the
offering, which may have the interim effect of lowering the trading price of the Class A non-voting shares following such offering.
Possible Adverse Effect of Substantial Official Sector Gold Sales
The official sector consists of central banks, other governmental agencies and multilateral institutions that buy, sell and hold gold as part of their
reserve assets. The official sector holds a significant amount of gold, some of which is static, meaning that it is held in vaults and is not bought, sold, leased or
swapped or otherwise mobilized in the open market. In the event that future economic, political or social conditions or pressures require members of the official
sector to liquidate their gold assets all at once or in an uncoordinated manner, the demand for gold may not be sufficient to accommodate the sudden increase in
the supply of gold to the market. Consequently, the price of gold could decline which may adversely affect an investment in the Class A non-voting shares.
Loss, Damage or Restriction on Access to Gold and Silver
There is a risk that part or all of Central Fund’s gold and silver bullion could be lost, damaged or stolen, notwithstanding the handling of deliveries of
bullion by and storage of bullion in the treasury vaults of a Canadian bank. Also, access to Central Fund’s gold and silver bullion could be restricted by natural
events or human actions. Any of these events may adversely affect the assets of Central Fund and, consequently, an investment in the Class A non-voting
shares.
Investment Eligibility
The Board of Directors intend that the Class A non-voting shares will be qualified investments under the applicable tax legislation for various type of
investment plans. However, there can be no assurance for the future that the Class A non-voting shares will continue to be qualified investments for Plans. The
Tax Act imposes penalties for the acquisition or holding of non-qualified investments.
Regulatory Changes
Central Fund may be affected by changes in regulatory requirements, customs duties and other taxes. Such changes could, depending on their nature,
benefit or adversely affect Central Fund and its shareholders.
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Competition
An investment in the Class A non-voting shares may be adversely affected by competition from other methods of investing in gold and silver. Central
Fund may be regarded as competing with other financial vehicles, including traditional debt and equity securities issued by companies in the precious metals
industry; other securities backed by or linked to gold or silver; direct investments in gold or silver and open-end or closed-end investment entities. Market and
financial conditions, and other conditions beyond Central Fund’s control, may make it more attractive to invest in other financial securities or to invest in gold
or silver bullion directly, which could occasionally reduce the marketability for the Class A non-voting shares.
Conflict of Interest
The Directors and Officers of Central Fund and of the Administrator may provide advisory, administration, investment management and other services
to other entities and parties which also acquire and hold bullion. The Directors and Officers of Central Fund have undertaken to devote such reasonable time as
is required to properly fulfill their responsibilities in respect of the affairs of Central Fund, as they arise from time to time.
Delivery of Silver and Gold Bullion
In accordance with industry standards, there is a delay between the time of acquisition of the bullion purchased by Central Fund out of the proceeds of
offerings of Class A non-voting shares and the time of actual delivery of such bullion, due to factors beyond Central Fund’s control.
Risks Related to Redemption
The redemption price of Class A non-voting shares as referred to under “Capital Structure, Dividends and Market for Securities – Capital Structure Class A Non-voting Shares” will generally be lower than the price received from selling Class A non-voting shares on the NYSE MKT or TSX. If holders of a
substantial number of Class A non-voting shares were to exercise their redemption rights, the number of Class A non-voting shares outstanding and the net
assets of Central Fund could be significantly reduced. If a substantial number of the Class A non-voting shares were to be redeemed, this could decrease the
liquidity of the Class A non-voting shares in the market and increase the management expense ratio of Central Fund. In any such circumstance, the articles of
Central Fund provide for the suspension of redemptions during specified unusual circumstances such as suspension of trading on certain stock exchanges or the
London bullion market or to comply with applicable laws and regulations.
Actions and Enforceability
Central Fund and the Administrator are organized under the laws of Alberta, Canada, their respective head offices and administrative activities are
carried out in Canada and their Directors and Officers are residents of jurisdictions outside the United States as are a substantial portion of the assets of such
individuals. All of the assets of Central Fund, principally gold and silver bullion, are located in Canada. As a result, a shareholder may be unable to serve legal
process within the United States other than upon Central Fund or enforce against any of the above entities or individuals in the appropriate Canadian courts
judgments obtained in United States courts, including judgments predicated on the civil liability provisions of the federal or state securities laws of the United
States, or bring an original action in the Canadian courts to enforce liabilities against any of such entities or individuals based on the United States federal or
state securities laws.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
During 2015 and 2016, the Company successfully defended certain actions instituted by 1891868 Alberta Ltd. ("SAM Alberta") in the Court of
Queen's Bench of Alberta (the "Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings"), including an application (the "Application") seeking relief under the Business
Corporations Act of Alberta on the ground of oppression, as described in the Company's annual MD&A for the year ended October 31, 2015. On September 10,
2015, SAM Alberta sought to amend the Application (the “Amended Application”) to add further respondents, to seek leave of the Court to commence a
derivative action on behalf of the Company, as described in the Company’s Q3, 2016 interim MD&A and for other interim relief. On September 23, 2015, the
Court dismissed SAM Alberta's oppression claim and its application for the interim relief sought. The application for leave to commence a derivative action was
adjourned. No further steps have been taken by SAM Alberta in respect of the proposed derivative action. The Company has filed an application to have the
Amended Application of SAM Alberta struck and if such application is unsuccessful, it will strenuously oppose the Amended Application.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Central Fund has no employees and there are no Officers of Central Fund who receive remuneration from Central Fund for acting in such capacity.
Officers who are also Directors receive the standard Director's fee, except Mr. J. C. Stefan Spicer who receives no remuneration as a Director from Central
Fund. Central Fund does not have any retirement or benefit plans. No Director or Officer of Central Fund is or has been indebted to Central Fund. Mr. Dale
Spackman and Mrs. Catherine A. Spackman are husband and wife.
As of December 6, 2016, the Directors and Officers of Central Fund as a group beneficially owned or are deemed to own, directly or indirectly,
approximately 63.1% of the outstanding Common shares of Central Fund.
Central Fund’s Registrar and Transfer Agent is CST Trust Company at Calgary, Montreal, Toronto and Vancouver. CST’s Co-Transfer Agent for
business in the United States is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company LLC in New York.
Central Fund will provide the following information to any person who requests it from Central Fund's President, Treasurer or Secretary at its
registered office at Parlee McLaws LLP, 3300 TD Canada Trust Tower, 421-7th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K9:
(a)

when securities of Central Fund are in the course of a distribution pursuant to a short form prospectus or a base shelf or preliminary short form
prospectus has been filed in respect of a distribution of its securities:
(i)

one copy of Central Fund's Annual Information Form, together with one copy of any document, or the pertinent pages of
any document, incorporated by reference in the Annual Information Form;

(ii)

one copy of the comparative financial statements of Central Fund for its most recently completed financial year, together
with the accompanying report of Central Fund's Auditor, and one copy of any of Central Fund's unaudited interim financial
statements subsequent to the financial statements for the most recently completed financial year;
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(b)

(iii)

one copy of Central Fund's Information Circular in respect of the most recent annual meeting of shareholders that involved
the election of Directors; and

(iv)

one copy of any other document that is incorporated by reference into the short form prospectus or the preliminary short
form prospectus and is not required to be provided under (i) to (iii) above; or

at any other time, one copy of any other document referred to in (a)(i), (ii) and (iii) above, provided that Central Fund may require the
payment of a reasonable charge if the request is made by a person who is not a holder of Central Fund's securities.

Additional information, including Directors' and Officers' remuneration, principal holders of Central Fund's Common shares and interests of insiders in material
transactions, where applicable, will be contained in Central Fund's Information Circular in connection with its Annual Meeting of shareholders to be held on
February 21, 2017. Additional financial information is provided in Central Fund's 2016 Annual Report. Copies of Central Fund’s 2016 Annual Report and its
Information Circular dated as of January 8, 2016 may be obtained by visiting the Company’s website at www.centralfund.com or on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.
Further information relating to Central Fund may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and EDGAR at www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml.
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Exhibit 99.2

The Role of Central Fund
To serve investors as "The Sound Monetary Fund".
To hold gold and silver bullion on a secure basis for the
convenience of investors in the shares of Central Fund.
Investment
Policies &
Restrictions

The investment policy set by the Board of Directors requires Central Fund of Canada Limited (“Central Fund” or the “Company”) to
maintain a minimum of 90% of its net assets in gold and silver bullion, of which at least 85% must be in physical form. On October 31,
2016, 99.2% of Central Fund's net assets were held in gold and silver bullion. Of this bullion, 99.5% was in physical form and 0.5% was in
certificate form.
Central Fund's physical gold and silver bullion holdings may not be loaned, subjected to options or otherwise encumbered in any way.

Safeguards

Central Fund’s bullion is stored on an allocated and fully segregated basis in underground vaults located in Canada which are controlled by
its Custodian, the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (the “Bank”), one of the major Canadian banks.
The Bank may only release any portion of Central Fund’s physical bullion holdings upon receipt of an authorizing resolution of Central
Fund's Board of Directors.
Bullion holdings and Bank vault security are inspected twice annually by Directors and/or Officers of Central Fund. On every occasion,
inspections are required to be performed in the presence of both Central Fund's external auditors and Bank personnel.
Central Fund is subject to the extensive regulations and reporting requirements of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission,
two stock exchanges and Canadian provincial and territorial securities regulatory authorities.

Conveniences

Central Fund's Class A shares are listed on the NYSE MKT (CEF) and on the Toronto Stock Exchange (CEF.A in Canadian dollars and
CEF.U in U.S. dollars). Making a gold and silver bullion investment through Central Fund is as easy as calling one's stockbroker or
investment dealer or processing the purchase through your online trading account.
The stock exchange listings provide liquid markets for the Class A shares of Central Fund. The bid/ask spread is usually considerably less
than the buying and selling prices of outright bullion purchases, especially for small transactions.
Unlike most other forms of gold and silver bullion investment, there are no ownership costs such as handling, storage and insurance paid
directly by the investor. As well, there are no bullion assay charges to a shareholder upon the sale or redemption of the Class A shares of
Central Fund.
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Directors' 55th Annual Report to Shareholders
Central Fund of Canada Limited is a low-cost, convenient facility for the investment ownership of gold and silver bullion. At October 31, 2016, 99.2% of
Central Fund’s net assets consisted of unencumbered, allocated and segregated, passive, long-term holdings of gold and silver bullion.
Central Fund’s Class A shares, listed on the NYSE MKT and on the Toronto Stock Exchange, provide investors with a convenient precious metals investment
alternative to direct investment in gold and silver bullion, and the associated high costs of buying and selling, including handling, recording, storage, insurance
and assay charges at time of sale.
Central Fund’s shares are also a desirable alternative to bullion coins, the costs of which often include additional shipping and handling charges, and are subject
to sales taxes in many North American jurisdictions.
Central Fund’s Class A shares serve as a stock exchange tradeable bullion holding and qualify for investment through various “regulated capital accounts” such
as IRAs, Keoghs, RRSPs, and insurance, mutual and pension funds, where direct holdings of physical bullion may be restricted or are too cumbersome to
handle, maintain and secure. The role of Central Fund is more thoroughly described on page 1.
Total equity (referred to as “net assets”) increased by $359.4 million, or 11.4%, during the year ended October 31, 2016. This increase in net assets was
primarily attributable to increases in the prices of gold and silver during the year and their resulting impact upon the change in unrealized appreciation of
holdings. Expenses incurred during the year, the repurchase and cancellation of Class A shares during the fourth quarter of 2016, and the payment of the annual
U.S. $0.01 Class A share dividend at year end each impacted, though nominally, the overall increase in net assets.
During fiscal 2016, the net asset value per Class A share, as reported in U.S. dollars, increased 11.7% to $13.79 from $12.35. Gold prices increased 11.3% to
$1,272.00 from $1,142.35, and silver prices increased 13.6% to $17.76 from $15.63 during the fiscal year. The net asset value per Class A share, as reported in
Cdn. dollars, while subject to the same factors described above, increased 14.5%, to $18.49 from $16.15 primarily due to a 2.4% increase in the value of the
U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.
On April 25, 2016, the Company sold 22,000 fine ounces of gold bullion (1.30% of gold holdings) at $1,248.30 per ounce and 1,320,000 ounces of silver
bullion (1.72% of silver holdings) at $16.9875 per ounce for total proceeds of $49,886,100. The gold and silver were sold in proportionate amounts so as to
maintain their current weighting with Central Fund. Though the Company realized a gain of $15,758,511 on these sales, it does not anticipate that there will be
any income tax payable.
Expenses as a percentage of the average of the month-end net assets (the “expense ratio”) for the year ended October 31, 2016 were 0.35% compared to 0.38%
for the year ended October 31, 2015. During both periods, this ratio was affected by costs incurred to address issues related to Class A Shareholders’
Proceedings. If not for these costs, the expense ratio would have been at 0.33% for the year ended October 31, 2016 and 0.32% for the year ended October 31,
2015.
Securities regulatory authorities require that a detailed analysis of Central Fund's results be provided in a “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”. Since Central Fund has an Administrator and is a passive holding company with no operations or employees, a document
entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” (“MD&A”), included herein on pages 19 to 27 inclusive, is provided by Central Fund’s Officers to meet
regulatory requirements.
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Gold and silver have a long demonstrated history as monetary instruments, officially and unofficially. Gold and silver derive intrinsic value from their unique
characteristics of scarcity, consistency of quality, durability, resistance to corrosion, and convenience of use. They also provide a strong alternative to fiat
currencies which have demonstrated ever decreasing purchasing power. An ounce of gold or silver is a physical asset, not a negotiable or renegotiable promise,
and most closely fits the true definition of “money” as a recognized medium of exchange and a store of value.
Prudence and history suggest that a portion of everyone's savings should be invested and held in physical gold and silver, or their secure share equivalent, as
insurance for one’s own ultimate financial and economic well-being.
Upon this philosophical foundation, Central Fund now enters its 56th year since inception and its 34th year of stewardship since its conversion in 1983 to “The
Sound Monetary Fund”. Central Fund holds only unencumbered, allocated and physically segregated, passive, long-term holdings of true money in the form of
gold and silver bullion. Central Fund continues to fulfill its mandate of providing a sound, secure, low-cost, convenient, exchange-tradable monetary alternative
for conservative investors in its role as "The Sound Monetary Fund".
Respectfully submitted,
on behalf of the Board of Directors
“J.C. Stefan Spicer”
December 5, 2016

J.C. Stefan Spicer, Chairman, President & CEO
Ian M. T. McAvity R.I.P.
May 20, 1942 to March 15, 2016
The passing of Ian McAvity is the great loss of a principled associate and friend who was a significant builder of Central
Fund of Canada Limited. He introduced thousands of investors to the qualities of this Company throughout the many years
following the establishment of The Sound Monetary Fund in 1983.
Ian was a monetary scholar and an honourable steward during his 33 years of service to Central Fund shareholders as a
Director dedicated to their protection. His many constructive contributions as a Director and Committee Member were
exemplary.
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Net Asset Summary
at
October 31, 2016

Comparative Net Asset Summary

2016
U.S.$
3,501.4
13.79

Total net assets (in millions)
$
Net asset value per Class A share $
Net assets:
Gold bullion
Silver bullion
Cash & other
Gold – per fine ounce
U.S. $
Silver – per ounce
U.S. $
Exchange Rate $1.00 U.S. = Cdn. $
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As at October 31
Cdn.$
4,692.9
18.49

2015
U.S.$
3,142.0
12.35

Cdn.$
4,110.7
16.15

60.8 %
38.4 %
0.8 %

61.6 %
38.3 %
0.1 %

100.0 %
1,272.00
17.76
1.3403

100.0 %
1,142.35
15.63
1.3083

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting and Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
The accompanying financial statements of Central Fund of Canada Limited (“Central Fund” or the “Company”) and all of the information in this Annual Report
are the responsibility of the senior executive officers (the “Senior Officers”), and have been approved by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) as recommended
by its Audit Committee (the “Committee”). Any references to the term management in this annual report relate to the Senior Officers.
The financial statements have been prepared by the Senior Officers in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. The Senior Officers have
determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. They have prepared
the financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report and have ensured that it is consistent with that in the financial statements.
Central Fund maintains systems of internal accounting and backup of records as well as high quality administrative and regulatory compliance controls for a
reasonable cost. Hard and soft copies of transactions and monthly statements are retained in the Company's files. Such systems are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable, retrievable and accurate and that the Company's assets are appropriately accounted for
and adequately safeguarded.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Senior Officers fulfil their responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and
approving the financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee appointed by the Board consists solely of non-related and independent Directors. In accordance with its charter, the Committee meets at
least annually with the Senior Officers and the external auditors to discuss: the independence of the external auditors; the scope of the annual audit; the audit
plan; access granted to the Company’s records; co-operation of the Senior Officers in the audit and review function; the need for an internal audit function; the
financial reporting process; related internal controls; the quality and adequacy of the Company’s or Administrator’s accounting and financial personnel; and
other resources and financial risk management to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities. The Committee also reviews the
Annual Report, the Annual Information Form, the annual and quarterly financial statements, Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the external auditors'
report. The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. The
Committee also reviews the external auditors’ remuneration and considers, for review by the Board and approval by the shareholders, the re-appointment and
terms of engagement and, in appropriate circumstances, the replacement of the external auditors. It also pre-approves all audit and non-audit services proposed
to be provided by the external auditors. The charter of the Committee is set out on Central Fund’s website and in its Annual Information Form.
The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) on behalf of the shareholders. Ernst & Young LLP has full and free
access to the Committee. Ernst & Young LLP has audited Central Fund of Canada Limited’s internal control over financial reporting based on criteria
established in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 2013 framework
(the “COSO criteria”).
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Senior Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
The Senior Officers conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in the COSO
criteria. Based on this evaluation, the Senior Officers concluded that the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as at
October 31, 2016.

December 5, 2016

“J.C. Stefan Spicer”
President & CEO
“Catherine A. Spackman”
Treasurer
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Statements of Financial Position
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

Assets:
Gold bullion at market (Notes 2(a) and 5)
Silver bullion at market (Notes 2(a) and 5)
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 2(b) and 6)
Other receivables and prepayments
Total assets:
Liabilities:
Dividends payable
Accrued liabilities (Notes 2(c) and 9)
Total liabilities
Equity:
Capital stock (Notes 2(d) and 8) Class A shares
Common shares
Retained earnings inclusive of unrealized appreciation of holdings
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
Total equity per share: Notes (2(h) and 10)
Class A shares
Common shares
Exchange rate: U.S. $1.00 = Cdn.
Total equity per share expressed in Canadian dollars:
Class A shares
Common shares
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
“Bruce D. Heagle”
Director

“Glenn C. Fox”
Director
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October 31,
2016
$

October 31,
2015
$

2,127,603,668
1,343,439,255
34,363,862
337,256
3,505,744,041

1,935,876,980
1,202,948,931
7,437,644
310,149
3,146,573,704

2,538,034
1,812,230
4,350,264

2,544,327
2,033,419
4,577,746

2,411,333,702
19,458
1,090,040,617
3,501,393,777
3,505,744,041

2,419,770,678
19,458
722,205,822
3,141,995,958
3,146,573,704

13.79
10.79
1.3403

12.35
9.35
1.3083

18.49
14.47

16.15
12.23

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

Income:
Interest
Total income
Expenses:
Administration fees (Note 9)
Safekeeping fees and bank charges
Directors’ fees and expenses
Shareholder information
Legal fees (Note 9)
Stock exchange fees
Audit and related regulatory fees
Registrar and transfer agent fees
Class A Shareholders’ proceedings (Note 13)
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Total expenses
Net loss from administrative activities
Realized gain on sale of bullion (Note 5)
Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of
holdings

Years ended October 31,
2016
2015
$
$
119,828
36,125
119,828
36,125
6,244,779
3,776,593
280,952
175,252
171,118
140,507
114,790
59,770
866,256
(8,955 )
11,821,062
(11,701,234 )
15,758,511
366,315,552

6,016,915
3,622,450
230,612
189,428
66,832
141,181
117,215
64,431
1,883,045
(3,225 )
12,328,884
(12,292,759 )
(81,022,716 )

370,372,829

(93,315,475 )

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
Statements of Changes in Equity
(expressed in U.S. dollars)
Number of
Shares
outstanding
November 1, 2014
Net income (loss) for the period
Dividends on Class A shares
October 31, 2015

254,432,713

Share Capital
$
2,419,790,136

254,432,713

2,419,790,136

November 1, 2015
Net income (loss) for the period
Dividends on Class A shares
Repurchase of Class A shares (Note 8)
October 31, 2016

254,432,713

2,419,790,136

(629,322)
253,803,391

(8,436,976)
2,411,353,160

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Retained
Earnings
$
818,065,624
(93,315,475)
(2,544,327)
722,205,822

Total Equity
$
3,237,855,760
(93,315,475)
(2,544,327)
3,141,995,958

722,205,822
370,372,829
(2,538,034)
1,090,040,617

3,141,995,958
370,372,829
(2,538,034)
(8,436,976)
3,501,393,777

Statements of Cash Flows
(expressed in U.S. dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:
Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings
Realized gain on sale of bullion
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in other receivables and prepayments
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Effect of exchange rate change
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase and cancellation of Class A shares
Proceeds from sale of bullion
Dividend paid
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at October 31
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Years ended October 31,
2016
2015
$
$
370,372,829

(93,315,475 )

(366,315,552 )
(15,758,511 )

81,022,716
-

(27,107 )
(221,189 )
(29,049 )
(11,978,579 )

3,599
(713,325 )
(40,466 )
(13,042,951 )

(8,436,976 )
49,886,100
(2,544,327 )
26,926,218
7,437,644

(2,544,327 )
(15,587,278 )
23,024,922

34,363,862

7,437,644

Notes to Financial Statements
October 31, 2016 and 2015
(amounts expressed in U.S. dollars unless otherwise stated)
1.

Organization of the Company
Central Fund of Canada Limited (“Central Fund” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act, 1961 (Ontario), and was
continued under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on April 5, 1990.
Central Fund is a specialized, passive holding company and a low-cost, convenient facility for the investment ownership of gold and silver bullion. At
October 31, 2016, 99.2% (2015: 99.9%) of its net assets were held in the form of gold and silver bullion.
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A non-voting shares. All issued shares are listed and traded on the New York Stock
Exchange MKT (symbol CEF) and the Toronto Stock Exchange (symbol CEF.A in Canadian dollars and CEF.U in U.S. dollars).
The purpose of Central Fund is to acquire, hold and secure gold and silver bullion on behalf of its shareholders. All gold and silver bullion bars are “Good
Delivery Bars” as defined by the London Bullion Market Association (“LBMA”), and are stored on an allocated and physically segregated basis in the
highest rated (Class 3) underground treasury vaults of its Custodian, the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, one of the largest banks in Canada.
The Company’s head office is located at 1323 – 15th Avenue S.W. Suite 805, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T3C 0X8.
The Central Group Alberta Ltd. (the “Administrator”) acts as the administrator of the Company pursuant to an Administrative and Consulting Agreement
with the Company.
The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended October 31, 2016 were authorized for issue by the Directors of the Company on
December 5, 2016.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies:
Basis of Preparation
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for gold and silver bullion, financial assets and financial liabilities held at
fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and all values are rounded to
the nearest dollar unless otherwise indicated.
(a) Gold and silver holdings:
Gold and silver bullion, and gold and silver certificates are measured at fair value by reference to the final daily London Bullion Market Association
fixing rates, with realized gains and losses and unrealized appreciation or depreciation of holdings recorded in income based on the IAS 40 Investment
Property, as IAS 40 is the most relevant standard to apply. Investment transactions are accounted for on the trade date.
(b) Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits with the Company’s banker, which are not subject to restrictions.
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(c) Other receivables and prepayments and accrued liabilities:
i)
ii)

Other receivables and prepayments include all financial assets other than cash and cash equivalents and gold and silver bullion. Prepaid
expenses and accrued interest receivable would be included in this category.
Accrued liabilities include all financial liabilities. Administration fees payable, safekeeping fees payable and other accounts payable would be
included in this category.

(d) Share capital:
The Company has Class A non-voting shares which are retractable as well as Common shares which are not retractable. Due to the discount at which a
holder is permitted to retract the shares, as well as the limitations on the circumstances in which retraction is permissible, the Company has determined
that the retraction feature should not be included in the assessment of equity classification under IAS 32 Financial Instruments – Presentation.
Accordingly, the Company has classified both the Class A non-voting shares and the Common shares as equity in these financial statements.
(e) Fees and other expenses:
Fees and other expenses are recognized on an accrual basis.
(f) Income taxes:
Although Central Fund is not a mutual fund as designated by securities regulators, the Company qualifies and intends to continue to qualify as a mutual
fund corporation under the Income Tax Act (Canada) for capital gains distributions and redemption purposes only. As a result, and after deduction of
issue costs in computing taxable income, the Company does not anticipate that it will be subject to any material non-refundable income tax liability.
The Company has non-capital losses of $57,103,594 available to offset future realized gains for which no benefit has been recognized in these financial
statements. These losses will expire between 2026 and 2035.
The Company is a long-term, passive holder of gold and silver bullion and believes that, as a mutual fund corporation for capital gains distributions and
redemption purposes only, in the event that realized gains upon a disposition of bullion holdings occur, as was the case in fiscal 2016, these gains
should be treated as capital gains for tax purposes and should be distributable as capital gains to shareholders. Deferred income tax liabilities resulting
from unrealized capital appreciation of holdings are offset by the refundable mechanisms available to the Company. The Canada Revenue Agency has,
however, expressed its opinion that gains (or losses) of mutual fund corporations resulting from transactions in commodities should generally be
treated for tax purposes as ordinary income rather than as capital gains, although the treatment in each particular case remains a question of fact to be
determined having regard to all the circumstances.
(g) Net loss from administrative activities:
The Company exists for the purpose of holding gold and silver bullion, on an allocated and physically segregated basis, on behalf of its shareholders.
Gold and silver holdings are intended to be permanent assets of the Company and the unrealized appreciation of the gold and silver holdings does not
represent distributable earnings. There is no intention, at present, to sell any of the Company’s gold and silver holdings unless it becomes necessary to
generate cash to meet ongoing expenses or to pay for the repurchase of shares under the terms of the normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) as was the case
in 2016. The Company currently does not loan, lease or otherwise utilize its gold and silver bullion holdings to generate income and, consequently, the
Company expects to incur a net loss from its administration activities.
(h) Per share calculation:
The calculation of total equity (or the net asset value) per share is based on the number of shares outstanding at the end of the reporting period. Central
Fund has no dilutive instruments.
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(i) Functional and presentation currency:
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the U.S. dollar. The Company’s performance is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in U.S.
dollars. Therefore, the U.S. dollar is considered to be the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions,
events and conditions of the Company.
3.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires the senior executive officers (the “Senior Officers”) to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
may require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Judgments
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Senior Officers have made the following judgments, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts in the financial statements:
Going concern
The Company’s Senior Officers have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied that the Company has
the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Senior Officers are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern
basis.
Estimates and Assumptions
Estimation uncertainties in accounting assumptions at the recording date that could cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on information available when the financial
statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to market changes or
circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
For tax purposes, the Company’s policy is to treat any gains (or losses) from the disposition of gold and silver bullion as capital gains, rather than income
(or loss), as the Company is and intends to continue to be a long-term passive holder of gold and silver bullion, and generally would only dispose of a
portion of its holdings in gold and silver bullion for the purposes of meeting redemptions (if any) and to pay expenses. The Canada Revenue Agency has,
however, expressed its opinion that gains (or losses) of mutual fund corporations resulting from transactions in commodities should generally be treated for
tax purposes as ordinary income rather than as capital gains, although the treatment in each particular case remains a question of fact to be determined
having regard to all the circumstances.
The Company has also applied judgment in concluding that the retraction feature of the Class A non-voting shares should not be included in the assessment
referred to in note 2(d).

4.

Segment information:
For administrative purposes, the Company is organized into one main segment, being the passive, long-term holding of gold and silver bullion. It is not an
active operating entity, and does not exist primarily to earn income. All of the Company’s activities are interrelated, and each activity is dependent on the
others. Accordingly, all significant administrative decisions are based upon an analysis of the Company as one segment. The financial results from this
segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Company as a whole. The Company’s income (or loss) is primarily made up of the changes in the
value of its gold and silver holdings.
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5.

Gold and silver bullion:
On April 25, 2016, the Company sold 22,000 fine ounces of gold bullion at $1,248.30 per fine ounce and 1,320,000 ounces of silver bullion at $16.9875 per
ounce for total proceeds of $49,886,100. The Company realized a gain of $15,758,511 on these sales.
Details of gold and silver bullion holdings are as follows:
October 31, 2016
Gold bullion:
Fine ounces
Total fine ounces
Average Cost
Cost
Market
Market value
Silver bullion:
Ounces
Total ounces
Average Cost
Cost
Market
Market value

6.

- 400 oz. bars
- 100 oz. bars
- bank certificates
- per fine ounce
- per fine ounce

$
$
$
$

1,654,851
9,359
8,435
1,672,645
799.66
1,337,553,042
1,272.00
2,127,603,668

$
$
$
$

75,336,953
307,149
75,644,102
12.53
947,556,383
17.76
1,343,439,255

- 1,000 oz. bars
- bank certificates
- per ounce
- per ounce

October 31, 2015

$
$
$
$

1,673,329
12,889
8,427
1,694,645
799.66
1,355,145,634
1,142.35
1,935,876,980

$
$
$
$

76,584,499
379,603
76,964,102
12.53
964,091,381
15.63
1,202,948,931

Cash and cash equivalents:
As at October 31, 2016, cash deposits of $34,363,862 were held in a Canadian bank at a variable interest rate of 0.50% per annum.
As at October 31, 2015 the Company held one Canadian dollar flexible GIC deposit with a Schedule 1 Canadian bank in the amount of $77,319 (Cdn.
$101,150) bearing interest at a rate of 0.85% per annum with a maturity date of February 16, 2016. As at October 31, 2015, cash deposits of $7,360,325
were held in a Canadian bank at a variable interest rate of 0.25% per annum.

7.

Fair value of financial instruments:
As at October 31, 2016, and 2015, due to the short-term nature of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at cost, it is assumed that the carrying
amount of those instruments approximates their fair value.

8.

Share capital:
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A non-voting shares without nominal or par value and 50,000 Common shares
without nominal or par value. There were 253,803,391 Class A shares, which are retractable, issued and outstanding at October 31, 2016 (October 31, 2015:
254,432,713), and 40,000 Common shares issued and outstanding at October 31, 2016 and October 31, 2015. The Class A shares are entitled to U.S. $3.00
per share on liquidation, before any remaining net assets are attributed equally to each Class A share and Common share then outstanding.
Since October 1989, holders of the Company’s Class A shares have had the option to require the Company to redeem their Class A shares on the last day of
each fiscal quarter of the Company (each a “Retraction Date”) for 80% of the Company’s net asset value per Class A share on the Retraction Date. Class A
shareholders who wish to exercise this retraction right must submit their written redemption request at least 90 days prior to the desired Retraction Date.
Since adoption of this redemption feature, no shareholders have submitted redemption requests.
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During the period, and subsequent to obtaining the necessary stock exchange approvals, the Company repurchased 629,322 Class A shares at a total cost of
$8,436,976. These shares have been cancelled.
The stated capital and recorded capital of the Company as at October 31, 2016, and October 31, 2015 was as follows:
October 31, 2016

9.

October 31, 2015

Stated capital
Class A shares: 253,803,391 (2015: 254,432,713)
Share issue costs

$ 2,426,278,164 $ 2,434,715,140
(14,944,462 )
(14,944,462 )

Recorded capital
Class A shares: 253,803,391 (2015: 254,432,713)
40,000 Common shares
Share capital
Weighted average Class A and Common shares outstanding for the year ending

2,411,333,702
19,458
$ 2,411,353,160
254,406,117

2,419,770,678
19,458
$ 2,419,790,136
254,472,713

Related party transactions and fees:
Central Fund has no employees. It is party to an Administrative and Consulting Agreement with The Central Group Alberta Ltd., which is related to the
Company through three of its officers and directors. The Central Group Alberta Ltd., which acts as Administrator, has operating offices with employees,
advisors and consultants who provide administrative and consulting services to the Company. For such services, the Company pays an administrative and
consulting fee, payable monthly, until at least October 31, 2018, at an annual rate of: 0.30% on the first $400 million of total net assets; 0.20% on the next
$600 million of total net assets; and 0.15% on total net assets exceeding one billion dollars.
Included in accrued liabilities at October 31, 2016, is $538,224 (October 31, 2015: $491,137), which relates to the October administration fee payable to the
Administrator.
For the year ended October 31, 2016 administration fees of $6,244,779 (2015: $6,016,915) were paid to the Administrator.
The late Mr. Ian M.T. McAvity, a past member of the Board of Directors, was not an Officer of the Company, nor a director, officer or employee of the
Administrator. Based on a 1983 agreement with the Administrator, and in lieu of a small minority equity position in the Administrator, he received an
annual payment equal to 6% of the administration fee received by the Administrator. In accordance with the provisions of this agreement, Mr. McAvity
provided general advice in relation to bullion and currency market trends and developments to the Administrator and the Board of Directors of the
Corporation. Mr. McAvity was a related party until February 22, 2016. Fees paid by the Administrator to Mr. McAvity for the year ended October 31, 2016
were $100,665 (2015: $345,250).
Mr. Michael A. Parente, a member of the Board of Directors, is not an Officer of the Company, or a director, officer or employee of the Administrator. He
is engaged by the Administrator for the benefit of the Company, to provide services in respect of ongoing analysis and compliance with financial reporting
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and internal control related matters. Fees paid by the Administrator to Mr. Parente for the year
ended October 31, 2016 were $38,097 (2015: $42,222).
For the year ended October 31, 2016, the Company incurred fees totaling $147,033 (2015: $41,032) to legal firms of which one of the Company’s directors
is a partner and one of the Company’s officers is the principal. In addition, during the year ended October 31, 2016, legal fees of $164,881 (2015:
$204,989) were payable to the same legal firms regarding the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings as described in note 13. The Board of Directors is of the
view that these services were provided under similar market terms and conditions as services with unrelated parties.
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10. Management of financial risks:
The Company has risk management policies and procedures in place to identify risks related to financial instruments and physical assets. The objectives of
these policies and procedures are to identify and mitigate risk. The Company’s compliance with these policies and procedures is monitored by the Senior
Officers, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company. Market fluctuations are unpredictable and outside the control of the Company.
New risk factors may emerge from time to time and it is not possible for the Company to predict all such risk factors. The market price for the Class A
shares may be above or below the net asset value per Class A share at any time due to market conditions.
Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the price of a security or physical asset may decline. It is possible to calculate the impact that changes in the market prices of gold
and silver bullion will have on the Company’s net asset value per Class A share both in U.S. dollars and Cdn. dollars. Assuming as a constant exchange rate
the rate which existed on October 31, 2016 of Cdn. $1.3403 for each U.S. dollar together with the holdings of gold and silver bullion which existed on that
date, a 10% change in the price of gold would increase or decrease the net asset value per Class A share by approximately U.S. $0.84 (October 31, 2015:
$0.76) per share or Cdn. $1.12 (October 31, 2015: $0.99) per share. A 10% change in the price of silver would increase or decrease the net asset value per
Class A share by approximately U.S. $0.53 (October 31, 2015: $0.47) per share or Cdn. $0.71 (October 31, 2015: $0.62) per share. If both gold and silver
prices were to change by 10% simultaneously in the same direction, the net asset value per Class A share would increase or decrease by approximately U.S.
$1.37 (October 31, 2015: $1.23) per share or Cdn. $1.83 (October 31, 2015: $1.61) per share.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of an asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
When expressed in U.S. dollars Central Fund’s net asset value per Class A share is largely unaffected by changes in the U.S./Cdn. dollar exchange rate due
to the fact that nearly all of Central Fund’s net assets are priced in U.S. dollars. For this same reason, an increase or decrease in the value of the U.S dollar
relative to the Cdn. dollar would change the net asset value per Class A share as expressed in Cdn. dollars in the same direction by approximately the same
percentage change in the value of the U.S. dollar.
Due to the limited value of transactions initiated in Cdn. dollars throughout the period, a strengthening or weakening of the Cdn. dollar relative to the U.S.
dollar applied to balances outstanding at October 31, 2016, and 2015 would not have had any material impact on the net income (loss) for the years then
ended, assuming that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remained constant.
Credit risk
Credit risk on financial instruments is the risk of loss occurring as a result of the default of an issuer on its obligation to Central Fund. Credit risk is
monitored on an ongoing basis and is managed by the Senior Officers and Directors dealing only with issuers that are believed to be creditworthy.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to generate adequate cash resources to fulfill its payment obligations. The Board and the Senior
Officers regard all of Central Fund’s assets as liquid. Central Fund traditionally has maintained sufficient cash reserves to enable it to pay expenses and
dividends on its Class A shares. Furthermore, 99.2% (October 31, 2015: 99.9%) of the Company’s net assets are in the form of gold and silver bullion
which are readily marketable.
11. Capital stewardship:
The capital of the Company is represented by the issued and outstanding Class A and Common shares and the retained earnings, which comprise the net
asset value attributable to participating shareholders. The Board of Directors direct the Administrator to administer the capital of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s stated objectives and restrictions, as stipulated in the Articles of Incorporation as amended, while maintaining sufficient
cash to pay the expenses of maintaining the Company and to meet demands for redemption (if any) of Class A Shares. The Company does not have any
externally imposed capital requirements.
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12. Personnel:
The Company did not employ any personnel during the period, as its affairs were administered by the personnel of the Administrator, Senior Officers and
Directors, as applicable.
13. Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings:
During 2015 and 2016, the Company successfully defended certain actions instituted by 1891868 Alberta Ltd. ("SAM Alberta") in the Court of Queen's
Bench of Alberta (the "Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings"), including an application (the "Application") seeking relief under the Business Corporations
Act of Alberta on the ground of oppression, as described in the Company's annual MD&A for the year ended October 31, 2015. On September 10, 2015,
SAM Alberta sought to amend the Application (the “Amended Application”) to add further respondents, to seek leave of the Court to commence a
derivative action on behalf of the Company, as described in the Company’s Q3, 2016 interim MD&A and for other interim relief. On September 23, 2015,
the Court dismissed SAM Alberta's oppression claim and its application for the interim relief sought. The application for leave to commence a derivative
action was adjourned. No further steps have been taken by SAM Alberta in respect of the proposed derivative action. The Company has filed an application
to have the Amended Application of SAM Alberta struck and if such application is unsuccessful, it will strenuously oppose the Amended Application.
The costs incurred by the Company on account of the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings for the year ended October 31, 2016 were $866,256 (fiscal year
ended October 31, 2015: $1,883,045), primarily for legal and advisory work in relation to the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings. These costs will be
reduced by virtue of a partial recovery of costs as awarded to the Company by the Court. Any recovery of costs is not recognized in the financial statements
and would not be recognized until the quantum of such costs has been determined.
14. Events after the reporting period:
Subsequent to October 31, 2016, an additional 1,687,388 Class A shares have been repurchased for cancellation at a cost of $20,724,160 under the
Company’s normal course issuer bid. All shares were repurchased at a discount to the net asset value per share at the time of such purchases.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders of Central Fund of Canada Limited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Central Fund of Canada Limited (the “Company”), which comprise the Statements of Financial
Position as at October 31, 2016 and 2015, and the Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), Statements of Changes in Equity, and Statements of Cash
Flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended October 31, 2016, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(”IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend
on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at October 31, 2016 and 2015 and its
financial performance and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended October 31, 2016 in accordance with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.
Other Matter
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of October 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in the “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 2013 framework (the COSO criteria) and our report dated December 5, 2016 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
“Ernst & Young LLP”
Toronto, Canada
December 5, 2016

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders of Central Fund of Canada Limited
We have audited Central Fund of Canada Limited’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2016, based on criteria established in the “Internal
Control-Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 2013 framework (the “COSO criteria”).
Central Fund of Canada Limited’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in this Annual Report. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of senior officers and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Central Fund of Canada Limited maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2016,
based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the Statements of Financial Position of Central Fund of Canada Limited as of October 31, 2016 and 2015, and the Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss), Changes in Equity and Cash Flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended October 31, 2016 and our report dated
December 5, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
“Ernst & Young LLP”
Toronto, Canada
December 5, 2016

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) as of December 5, 2016
The financial statements of Central Fund of Canada Limited (“Central Fund” or the “Company”) are prepared and reported in United States (“U.S.”) dollars in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, otherwise known as IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Notes to
the financial statements on pages 10 to 16 inclusive should be referred to as supplementary information to this discussion and analysis.
Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are based on the Company's beliefs and
assumptions based on information available at the time the assumption was made. The use of any of the words "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "expect",
"may", "will", "project", "should", "believe" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking
statements. The Company believes the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these
expectations will prove to be correct. Such forward-looking statements included in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon. These statements speak only
as of the date of this MD&A.
In particular, but without limiting the foregoing, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements pertaining to the expectation that income tax will not be
payable on the sale by the Company of gold and silver in 2016 and steps that may be taken by the Company in the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings.
The material factors and assumptions used to develop these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those referred to in note 3 of the financial
statements under “Estimates and Assumptions”.
Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of the risk factors described in “Risk Factors” in this
annual MD&A as well as notes 3, 10 and 13 of the financial statements.
Administrator, Administrative and Consulting Fees
Central Fund has no employees. It is party to an Administrative and Consulting Agreement with The Central Group Alberta Ltd., which is related to the
Company through three of its Officers and Directors. The Central Group Alberta Ltd., which acts as Administrator, has operating offices with employees,
advisors and consultants who provide administrative and consulting services to the Company. For such services, the Company pays an administrative and
consulting fee, payable monthly, until at least October 31, 2018, at an annual rate of: 0.30% on the first $400 million of total net assets; 0.20% on the next $600
million of total net assets; and 0.15% on total net assets exceeding one billion dollars.
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Financial Results - Changes in Net Assets
Changes in total equity (referred to as “net assets”), as reported in U.S. dollars from period to period, are primarily the result of share offerings (if any), the
changing market prices of gold and silver, and the proportion of each held by the Company. Also, changes in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the
Canadian (“Cdn.”) dollar will have an impact on net assets when reported in Cdn. dollars. The tables that follow summarize net income (loss) including: the
changes in unrealized appreciation of holdings (gold and silver) as well as the changes in net assets in U.S. dollars; gold and silver prices; and, the exchange
rates between U.S. and Cdn. dollars on an annual or quarterly basis as indicated.
Years ended October 31
2015
U.S.$

2016
U.S.$
Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings (in millions)

2014
U.S.$

$

366.3

$

(81.0 )

$

(732.5 )

$

370.4

$

(93.3 )

$

(744.2 )

Net income (loss) per Class A share Inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of
holdings

$

1.46

$

(0.37 )

$

(2.92 )

Total net assets (in millions)

$

3,501.4

$

Change in net assets from prior year (in millions)
% change from prior year

$

359.4
$
11.4 %

(95.9 )
$
(3.0 )%

(746.7 )
(18.7 )%

Change in net assets per Class A share from prior year
% change from prior year

$

1.44
$
11.7 %

(0.37 )
$
(2.9 )%

(2.94 )
(18.8 )%

Gold price (U.S. $ per fine ounce)
% change from prior year

$

1,272.00
$
11.3 %

1,142.35
$
(1.9 )%

1,164.25
(12.1 )%

Silver price (U.S. $ per ounce)
% change from prior year

$

17.76
$
13.6 %

15.63
$
(3.5 )%

16.20
(27.0 )%

Exchange rate: $1.00 U.S. = Cdn.
% change from prior year

$

1.3403
$
2.4 %

Net income (loss) for the year inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings (in
millions)
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3,142.0

1.3083
16.0 %

$

$

3,237.9

1.1275
8.1 %

In fiscal 2016 net assets as reported in U.S. dollars increased by $359.4 million or 11.4%. This increase in net assets was primarily attributable to the change in
unrealized appreciation of holdings during the year resulting from increases in the prices of gold (11.3%) and silver (13.6%). Expenses incurred during the year,
the repurchase and cancellation of Class A shares during the fourth quarter of 2016, and the payment of the annual U.S. $0.01 Class A share dividend at year
end each impacted, though nominally, the overall increase in net assets.
Though subject to the same effects as described above, net assets reported in Canadian dollars increased by 14.1% due to the 2.4% increase in the U.S. dollar
relative to the Canadian dollar.
Quarter ended
July 31
April 30

October 31

January 31

2016
Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings (in millions)

$

(289.6 )

$

259.5

$

567.5

$

(171.1 )

Net income (loss) inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of
holdings (in millions)

$

(292.6 )

$

256.7

$

580.3

$

(174.0 )

Net income (loss) per Class A share inclusive of the change in unrealized
appreciation of holdings

$

(1.15 )

$

1.01

$

2.28

$

(0.69 )

Total net assets (in millions)

$

$

3,805.0

$

3,548.3

$

Changes in net assets from prior quarter (in millions)
% change from prior quarter

$

(303.6 )
$
(8.0 )%

256.7
$
7.2 %

580.3
19.6 %

$

(174.0 )
(5.5 )%

Change in net assets per Class A share from prior quarter
% change from prior quarter

$

(1.16 )
$
(7.8 )%

1.01
$
7.2 %

2.28
19.6 %

$

(0.69 )
(5.6 )%

Gold price
% change from prior quarter

$

1,272.00
$
(5.2 )%

1,342.00
$
4.4 %

1,285.65
15.6 %

$

1,111.80
(2.7 )%

Silver price
% change from prior quarter

$

17.76
$
(11.4 )%

20.04
$
12.2 %

17.86
26.8 %

$

14.08
(9.9 )%

Exchange rate: $1.00 U.S. = Cdn.
% change from prior quarter

$

3,501.4

1.3403
2.8 %
21

$

1.3041
$
3.9 %

1.2549
$
(10.9 )%

2,968.0

1.4080
7.6 %

In fiscal 2015, net assets as reported in U.S. dollars decreased by $95.9 million or 3.0%. This decrease in net assets was primarily attributable to the change in
unrealized appreciation of holdings during the year resulting from decreases in the prices of gold (1.9%) and silver (3.5%). Expenses incurred during the year
and the payment of the annual U.S. $0.01 Class A share dividend at year end also contributed, though nominally, to the decrease in net assets.
Though subject to the same effects as described above, net assets reported in Canadian dollars increased by 12.5% due to the 16.0% increase in the U.S. dollar
relative to the Canadian dollar.
Quarter ended
July 31
April 30

October 31

January 31

2015
Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings (in millions)

$

156.8

$

(289.6 )

$

(166.3 )

$

218.1

Net income (loss) inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of
holdings (in millions)

$

152.9

$

(292.6 )

$

(169.0 )

$

215.4

Net income (loss) per Class A share inclusive of the change in unrealized
appreciation of holdings

$

0.60

$

(1.15 )

$

(0.66 )

$

0.85

Total net assets (in millions)

$

3,142.0

$

$

3,453.3

Changes in net assets from prior quarter (in millions)
% change from prior quarter

$

150.3
$
5.0 %

(292.6 )
$
(8.9 )%

(169.0 )
$
(4.9 )%

215.4
6.7 %

Change in net assets per Class A share from prior quarter
% change from prior quarter

$

0.59
$
5.0 %

(1.15 )
$
(8.9 )%

(0.66 )
$
(4.9 )%

0.85
6.7 %

Gold price
% change from prior quarter

$

1,142.35
$
4.0 %

1,098.40
$
(6.9 )%

1,180.25
$
(6.3 )%

1,260.25
8.2 %

Silver price
% change from prior quarter

$

15.63
$
7.3 %

14.56
$
(11.9 )%

16.52
$
(2.4 )%

16.92
4.4 %

Exchange rate: $1.00 U.S. = Cdn.
% change from prior quarter

$

1.3083
$
0.3 %

1.2119
$
(4.7 )%

1.2717
12.8 %
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2,991.7

1.3047
7.7 %

$

$

3,284.2

Financial Results - Net Income
Central Fund's earned income objective is secondary to its purpose of holding almost all of its net assets in gold and silver bullion. Generally, Central Fund
seeks only to maintain adequate cash reserves to enable it to pay expenses and Class A share dividends. Because gold and silver bullion are not loaned to
generate income, Central Fund's realized income is a nominal percentage of its net assets.
Fiscal 2016 Compared to Fiscal 2015
Net income, inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings, for the year ended October 31, 2016 was $370.4 million compared to a net loss,
inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings, of $93.3 million for the year ended October 31, 2015. Normally, the net income (loss) for any
reporting period is primarily the result of the change in the prices of gold and silver bullion during the respective periods. However, on April 25, 2016, the
Company sold 22,000 fine ounces of gold bullion (1.30% of gold holdings) at $1,248.30 per ounce and 1,320,000 ounces of silver bullion (1.72% of silver
holdings) at $16.9875 per ounce for total proceeds of $49,886,100. The gold and silver were sold in proportionate amounts so as to maintain their current
weighting. Though the Company realized a gain of $15,758,511 on these sales, it does not anticipate that there will be any income tax payable.
Certain expenses, such as administration fees and safekeeping fees, vary relative to net asset levels or the quantities and values of the gold and silver bullion
held. Administration fees, which are scaled and are calculated monthly based on the total net assets at each month-end, increased by $227,864 for the year ended
October 31, 2016 due to higher month-end net asset levels during the year. Safekeeping fees increased by $154,143 during the same period. The changes in
administration fees were directly due to changes in the levels of average net assets under administration, while the changes in safekeeping fees were directly due
to the changes in the prices of gold and silver, during the period.
Expenses decreased by 4.1% over the prior year due primarily to lower costs incurred for the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings than those incurred in fiscal
2015.
Expenses as a percentage of the average month-end net assets (the “expense ratio”) for the year ended October 31, 2016 were 0.35% compared to 0.38% for the
year ended October 31, 2015. During both periods, this ratio was affected by costs incurred to address issues related to Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings. If
not for these costs, the expense ratio would have been 0.33% for the year ended October 31, 2016 compared to 0.32% for the year ended October 31, 2015.
Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014
Net loss, inclusive of the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings, for the year ended October 31, 2015 was $93.3 million compared to a net loss, inclusive
of the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings, of $744.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2014. The net loss in fiscal 2015 was primarily a result of
the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings during the year.
Certain expenses, such as administration fees and safekeeping fees, vary relative to net asset levels or the quantities and values of the gold and silver bullion
held. Administration fees, which are scaled and are calculated monthly based on the total net assets at each month-end, decreased by $683,335 for the year
ended October 31, 2015 due to lower month-end net asset levels during the year. Safekeeping fees decreased by $561,258 during the same period. The changes
in administration fees were directly due to changes in the levels of average net assets under administration, while the changes in safekeeping fees were directly
due to the changes in the prices of gold and silver during the period.
Expenses increased by 5.1% over the prior year, due almost entirely to the unforeseen Class A Shareholders' Proceedings.
Expenses as a percentage of the average month-end net assets (the “expense ratio”) for the year ended October 31, 2015 were 0.38% compared to 0.32% for the
year ended October 31, 2014. The increase in the expense ratio was a direct result of costs incurred to address issues related to Class A Shareholders’
Proceedings. If not for these costs, the expense ratio would have remained unchanged at 0.32% for the year ended October 31, 2015.
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Financial highlights

Gold Price (per fine ounce)
Silver Price (per ounce)
Class A per share performance:
Net asset value per share at beginning of year
Increase (decrease):
Net loss from administrative activities
Realized gain on partial sale of holdings
-gold
-silver
Change in unrealized appreciation of holdings
- gold
- silver
Total increase (decrease) (1)
Net asset value per share at end of year
Total return for year
Percentages and supplemental data:
Ratio as a percentage of average net assets:
Expenses
Net income (loss) before the change in unrealized appreciation of holdings

$
$
$

Years ended October 31,
2016
2015
1,272.00 $
1,142.35
17.76 $
15.63
12.35

$

(0.05)
0.04
0.02

$

12.72
(0.05)
-

0.82
0.61
1.44
13.79 $
11.7%

(0.15)
(0.17)
(0.37)
12.35
(2.9)%

0.35%
0.12%

0.38%
0.38%

The increase (decrease) per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. The net asset values per share are based
on the actual number of shares outstanding at the end of the relevant reporting period.
(1) This

table is not meant to be a reconciliation of beginning to end of year net asset value per share.

Outstanding Shares
There were 253,803,391 Class A non-voting shares and 40,000 Common shares issued and outstanding at October 31, 2016 (2015: 254,432,713) (December 5,
2016: 252,116,003). During fiscal 2016, the Company utilized the NCIB program to repurchase and cancel 629,322 Class A shares at a total cost of $8,436,976.
All shares were repurchased at a discount to the net asset value at the time of such purchases.
Forward – Looking and Market Risk Observations
Central Fund is almost entirely invested in pure refined gold and silver bullion in international bar form. Therefore, the principal factors affecting the price of its
shares are factors that affect the currency prices of gold and silver bullion and which are beyond the Company’s control. However, the Company believes that
such factors have a lesser impact on the shares of Central Fund than on the shares of gold and silver producers, as gold and silver producers have considerable
inherent operational costs and other risks resulting in more volatile share prices of such producers. Central Fund’s net assets are denominated in U.S. dollars. As
at October 31, 2016, the Company’s assets were made up of 60.8% gold bullion, 38.4% silver bullion, and 0.8% cash and interest-bearing deposits and other
working capital amounts. The Company does not engage in any leasing, lending or hedging activities involving these assets, so the net asset value of the shares
will depend on, and typically fluctuate with, the price fluctuations of such assets. Gold and silver bullion are traded internationally and their market prices may
be affected by a variety of unpredictable, international, economic, monetary and political factors. Macroeconomic considerations include: expectations for future
rates of inflation; the strength or weakness of, and confidence in, the U.S. dollar, the currency in which the prices of gold and silver are generally quoted, and
the relative value of other currencies; interest rates; and global or regional political or economic events, including banking crises. Political factors, including
market interventions and international conflicts, may also affect gold and silver prices.
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Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the price of a security or physical asset may decline. It is possible to determine the impact that changes in the market prices of gold and
silver will have on the Company’s net asset value per Class A share both in U.S. dollars and Cdn. dollars. Assuming as a constant exchange rate, the rate which
existed on October 31, 2016, of Cdn. $1.3403 for each U.S. dollar together with the holdings of gold and silver bullion which existed on that date, a 10% change
in the price of gold would increase or decrease the net asset value per Class A share by approximately $0.84 per share or Cdn. $1.12 per share. A 10% change in
the price of silver would increase or decrease the net asset value per Class A share by approximately $0.53 per share or Cdn. $0.71 per share. If both gold and
silver prices were to change by 10% simultaneously in the same direction, the net asset value per Class A share would increase or decrease by approximately
$1.37 per share or Cdn. $1.83 per share.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of an asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
When expressed in U.S. dollars, Central Fund's net asset value per Class A share is largely unaffected by changes in the U.S./Cdn. dollar exchange rate due to
the fact that nearly all of Central Fund's net assets are priced in U.S. dollars. For this same reason, an increase or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar relative
to the Cdn. dollar would change the net asset value per Class A share as expressed in Cdn. dollars in the same direction by approximately the same percentage
change in the value of the U.S. dollar.
Due to the limited dollar value of transactions initiated in Cdn. dollars throughout the year, a strengthening or weakening of the Cdn. dollar relative to the U.S.
dollar applied to balances outstanding at October 31, 2016 would not have had any material impact on the net income for the year then ended, assuming that all
other variables, in particular interest rates, remained constant.
Credit risk
Credit risk on financial instruments is the risk of loss occurring as a result of the default of an issuer on its obligation to Central Fund. Credit risk is monitored
on an ongoing basis and is managed by the Company dealing only with issuers that are believed to be creditworthy.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to generate adequate cash resources to fulfill its payment obligations. The Administrator regards all
of Central Fund’s assets as liquid. Central Fund traditionally has maintained sufficient cash reserves to enable it to pay expenses and dividends on its Class A
shares. Furthermore, 99.2% of its net assets are in the form of gold and silver bullion, which are readily marketable.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
All of Central Fund's assets are liquid. The Company’s liquidity objective is to hold cash and cash equivalents in a safe and conservative manner to generate
some income primarily to be applied towards expenses and Class A share dividends. At October 31, 2016, Central Fund's cash and cash equivalents were $34.4
million. The comparable figure at October 31, 2015 was $7.4 million. The ability of Central Fund to have sufficient cash for expenses and dividend payments,
the re-purchase of Class A shares, and to meet demands for redemptions (if any), is primarily dependent upon its ability to realize cash flow from its cash
equivalents. Should Central Fund not have sufficient cash to meet its needs, portions of Central Fund's bullion holdings may be sold to fund its Class A share repurchase program, dividend payments, provide working capital and pay for redemptions (if any) of Class A shares. Sales of bullion holdings could result in
Central Fund realizing either capital gains or losses.
During the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016, Central Fund's cash reserves increased by $26.9 million from those held at October 31, 2015. The primary
sources and uses of cash were as follows:
Sources of Cash
The primary inflow of cash was $49.9 million in proceeds from the sale of bullion and $0.1 million of interest generated on cash equivalents.
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Uses of Cash
During fiscal 2016, $12.0 million represents cash outflows from operating activities during the year (which includes $0.9 million to address the unforeseen
Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings). Other cash outflows include $8.4 million paid on the re-purchase and cancellation of Class A shares, and $2.5 million paid
in the 2016 fiscal year with respect to Central Fund's October 31, 2015 Class A share dividend.
Central Fund’s cash reserves are to be used to pay expenses and Class A share dividend payments, and to meet share re-purchases and demands for redemption
of shares (if any). The Board of Directors is mindful of the need to make these payments, while continuing to meet the Company’s stated objective of holding
the maximum amount of net assets, as is deemed reasonable by the Board of Directors, in the form of gold and silver bullion. Although it could readily generate
cash by liquidating a small portion of its bullion holdings, the Board of Directors and senior executive officers (“Senior Officers”) monitor Central Fund’s cash
position with an emphasis on maintaining its mandate to hold maximum amounts of gold and silver bullion at all times. However, as was the case during fiscal
2016, should cash reserves become too low, and in the absence of other sources of capital at the time, liquidation of a portion of the bullion holdings could be
made which would result in gains or losses on such holdings.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Senior Officers have established and implemented disclosure controls and procedures in order to provide reasonable assurance that material information
relating to the Company is disclosed on a timely basis. They believe these disclosure controls and procedures have been effective during the year ended October
31, 2016.
The Senior Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
The Senior Officers conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in the COSO
criteria. Based on this evaluation, the Senior Officers concluded that the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as at
October 31, 2016.
Inflation
Because Central Fund's financial statements are prepared on a market price basis, the impact of inflation and the resulting currency price changes of gold and
silver are reflected in these financial statements.
Non-Market Risk Factors
There are other risk factors affecting the Company as set out in the Annual Information Form of the Company dated December 5, 2016. Prospective investors
should consider carefully these factors relating to the business and primary assets of Central Fund before deciding whether to purchase shares.
Normal Course Issuer Bid
On February 24, 2016, the Company received approval from the TSX to commence a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) to repurchase and cancel up to 12.7
million of its Class A non-voting shares, representing approximately 5% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares at that time. Any NCIB purchases
may be made over the course of a twelve month period and will be subject to the applicable TSX and NYSE rules and securities laws. The timing of purchases,
and the actual number of Class A shares to be purchased, will be determined by the Corporation and will be subject to market conditions, share prices and
regulatory requirements. As of October 31, 2016, 629,322 Class A shares have been repurchased at a total cost of $8,436,976. Such shares have also been
cancelled. A shareholder may obtain a copy of the Notice of Intention to make the NCIB, without charge, by contacting the Company at its head office,
Attention: Shareholder and Investor Inquiries.
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Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings
During 2015 and 2016, the Company successfully defended certain actions instituted by 1891868 Alberta Ltd. ("SAM Alberta") in the Court of Queen's Bench
of Alberta (the "Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings"), including an application (the "Application") seeking relief under the Business Corporations Act of
Alberta on the ground of oppression, as described in the Company's annual MD&A for the year ended October 31, 2015. On September 10, 2015, SAM Alberta
sought to amend the Application (the “Amended Application”) to add further respondents, to seek leave of the Court to commence a derivative action on behalf
of the Company, as described in the Company’s Q3, 2016 interim MD&A and for other interim relief. On September 23, 2015, the Court dismissed SAM
Alberta's oppression claim and its application for the interim relief sought. The application for leave to commence a derivative action was adjourned. No further
steps have been taken by SAM Alberta in respect of the proposed derivative action. The Company has filed an application to have the Amended Application of
SAM Alberta struck and if such application is unsuccessful, it will strenuously oppose the Amended Application.
The costs incurred by the Company on account of the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings for the year ended October 31, 2016 were $866,256 (fiscal year ended
October 31, 2015: $1,883,045), primarily for legal and advisory work in relation to the Class A Shareholders’ Proceedings. These costs will be reduced by
virtue of a partial recovery of costs as awarded to the Company by the Court. Any recovery of costs is not recognized in the financial statements and would not
be recognized until the quantum of such costs has been determined.
United States Federal Income Tax Considerations
Central Fund has been, and expects to continue to be a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for United States federal income tax purposes. Under the
PFIC rules, the United States federal income tax treatment of the Class A shares is very complex and, in certain cases, uncertain or potentially unfavorable to
United States shareholders. Under current law, a non-corporate United States shareholder who has in effect a valid election to treat Central Fund as a qualified
electing fund (“QEF”) should be eligible for the 20% maximum United States federal income tax rate on a sale or other taxable disposition of Central Fund’s
shares, if such shares have been held for more than one year at the time of sale or other taxable disposition. Gain from the disposition of collectibles, such as
gold or silver, however, is currently subject to a maximum United States federal income tax rate of 28%. The IRS has authority to issue Treasury regulations
applying the 28% tax rate to gain from the sale by a non-corporate United States shareholder of an interest in a PFIC with respect to which a QEF election is in
effect. Although no such Treasury regulations have been issued to date, there can be no assurance as to whether, when or with what effective date any such
Treasury regulations may be issued, or whether any such Treasury regulations would subject long-term capital gains recognized by a United States shareholder
(a “U.S. Holder”) that has made a QEF election on a disposition of Central Fund shares to the 28% rate. U.S. Holders should be aware that if they purchase
Class A shares and make a QEF election, the IRS may issue regulations or other guidance, possibly on a retroactive basis, which would apply the higher 28%
United States federal income tax rate to any long-term capital gain recognized on a sale of their Central Fund shares. In addition, a gain from the disposition of
Class A shares may be subject to the 3.8% Medicare surtax. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the implications of making a QEF election
with respect to Central Fund.
Under the QEF rules, in the event that Central Fund disposes of a portion of its gold or silver holdings, including dispositions in the course of varying its relative
investment between gold and silver, United States shareholders who have made a QEF election may be required to report substantial amounts of income for
United States federal income tax purposes (in the absence of any cash distributions received from Central Fund). Historically, Central Fund has declared and
paid a cash distribution of U.S. $0.01 per share (prior to 1996, Cdn. $0.01 per share) on its outstanding Class A shares. In addition, it is the intention of Central
Fund to distribute to holders of record of Class A shares and Common shares as of the last day of each taxable year (currently October 31) an aggregate amount
of cash distributions (including the stated distributions on the Class A shares) such that the amount of cash distributions payable to an electing shareholder that
holds Class A shares for the entire taxable year of Central Fund will be at least equal to the product of (i) Central Fund’s “ordinary earnings” and “net capital
gains” for such taxable year allocable to such electing Shareholder and (ii) the highest marginal rate of United States federal income tax on ordinary income or
long-term capital gain, as appropriate, applicable to individuals. Because such cash distributions may be subject to Canadian withholding tax and because the
amount of such cash distributions will be determined without reference to possible United States state or local income tax liabilities or to the rate of United
States federal income tax applicable to corporate United States shareholders, such cash distributions may not provide an electing Shareholder with sufficient
cash to pay the United States federal income tax liability arising from the inclusion in income of the electing Shareholders’ pro rata share of Central Fund’s
“ordinary earnings” and “net capital gains” under the QEF rules.
Each United States person that acquires Class A shares, whether from Central Fund or in the secondary market, is strongly urged to consult his, her or its own
tax advisor.
This MD&A is dated December 5, 2016.
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Class A Shares Stock Exchange Listings
Electronic
Ticker Symbol
NYSE MKT
The Toronto Stock Exchange

CEF
CEF.A in CDN$
CEF.U in US$

Cusip Number 153501101

Net Asset Value Information
The net asset value per Class A share is calculated daily and is available at www.centralfund.com; or by calling the Administrator’s Investor Inquiries
Office at (905) 648-7878; or, by sending an email to info@centralfund.com.
Form 40-F
Central Fund's Annual Report on Form 40-F is filed with the SEC and posted on EDGAR (Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System) at
www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml. Copies are available, free of charge, by contacting Central Fund of Canada Limited or its Administrator.
Postings on SEDAR (System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval)
Annual & Quarterly Reports
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Annual Information Forms
Prospectuses
Material Change Reports
Press Releases
Proxies and Executive’s Certifications
Board and Committee Charters
All of these filings may be found at www.sedar.com and www.centralfund.com.
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Corporate Information
Directors
Barry R. Cooper (A)(I)
Glenn C. Fox (C)(I)(L)
Bruce D. Heagle (A)(C)(I)
Michael A. Parente (C)(I)
Jason A. Schwandt (A)(I)
Dale R. Spackman, Q.C. (V)
J.C. Stefan Spicer
(A)
(C)
(I)
(L)
(V)

-

Officers
J.C. Stefan Spicer, Chairman, President & CEO
Catherine A. Spackman CPA, CMA, Treasurer & CFO
Teresa E. Poper CB, Assistant Treasurer
John S. Elder, Q.C., Secretary and Counsel
Consultant to Directors
Douglas E. Heagle, Retired Director

Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
May be regarded as an independent director under Canadian securities administrators’ guidelines.
Lead Director
Vice-Chairman

Administrator
The Central Group Alberta Ltd.
Calgary, Alberta

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Canada

Banker
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

Custodian
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

Legal Counsel
Parlee McLaws LLP, Calgary
Dentons Canada LLP, Toronto
Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Seattle

Registrar and Transfer Agents
CST Trust Company, Canada
American Stock Transfer
& Trust Company LLC, New York

Marketing and Investor Relations Consultant
EMN Consulting, Toronto, Ontario
Share Ownership Certificates
Certificates of share ownership registered in shareholders' names at their own addresses for delivery to them for their own safekeeping may be obtained upon
the request of holders and payment of any applicable fees to the relevant Registrar and Transfer Agent of the Company.
Head Office
Hallmark Estates
Suite 805, 1323-15th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T3C 0X8
Telephone (403) 228-5861
Fax (403) 228-2222

Shareholder and
Investor Inquiries
Administrator, P.O. Box 10050
Ancaster, Ontario L9K 1P2
Telephone (905) 648-7878
Fax (905) 648-4196
Website: www.centralfund.com
E-mail: info@centralfund.com
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Exhibit 99.3
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption “Principal Accounting Fees and Services” in this Annual Report (“Form 40-F”) of Central Fund of
Canada Limited for the year ended October 31, 2016 being filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and to the use in this Form 40-F
of our reports dated December 5, 2016, with respect to the financial statements of Central Fund of Canada Limited and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Central Fund of Canada Limited.

Toronto, Canada
December 8, 2016

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Exhibit 99.4
CERTIFICATION
I, J.C. Stefan Spicer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Central Fund of Canada Limited;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The issuer’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer’s
auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s internal control over financial
reporting.
By:
Date: December 8, 2016

/s/ J.C. Stefan Spicer
J.C. Stefan Spicer
President & Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION
I, Catherine A. Spackman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 40-F of Central Fund of Canada Limited;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The issuer’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer’s
auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer’s internal control over financial
reporting.
By:
Date: December 8, 2016

/s/ Catherine A. Spackman
Catherine A. Spackman
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 99.5
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Central Fund of Canada Limited (the “Company”) on Form 40-F for the period ended October 31, 2016 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, J.C. Stefan Spicer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
December 8, 2016

/s/ J.C. Stefan Spicer
J.C. Stefan Spicer
President & Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Central Fund of Canada Limited and will be retained by Central Fund
of Canada Limited and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Central Fund of Canada Limited (the “Company”) on Form 40-F for the period ended October 31, 2016 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Catherine A. Spackman, the Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
December 8, 2016

/s/ Catherine A. Spackman
Catherine A. Spackman
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Central Fund of Canada Limited and will be retained by Central Fund
of Canada Limited and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

